# ANTICH UNIVERSITY NEW ENGLAND

# Master of Arts in Couple & Family Therapy

# **Clinical Training Handbook 2022-23**

Effective August 27, 2022

Antioch University New England Department of Applied Psychology 40 Avon Street Keene, NH 03431

Antioch University New England and the Department of Applied Psychology reserve the right to make changes in policy, regulations, degree requirements, and fees subsequent to the publication of this material. Such changes take precedence over handbook and catalog statements. While reasonable efforts are made to publicize such changes, students should remain in close touch with department advisors and administrative offices because responsibility for complying with all applicable requirements ultimately rests with the student. Students are also referred to the AUNE Student Handbook.

# **Table of Contents**

CFT MA Clinical Training Points of Contact
Introduction to the Antioch University New England
Couple and Family Therapy Masters Program
Program Mission
Program Goals and Student Learning Outcomes
Overview of Clinical Experience Requirements
Contact Hours Required
Supervision Hours Required
Structure of Clinical Training
Capstone Requirement: Final Case Presentation and Theory of Therapy Paper
Program Definitions of Clinical Training Terms
Essential Clinical Training Policies
Adherence to Ethical Code and All Applicable Legal Standards
Clinical Training Requirements and Future Plans for Seeking Licensure
Confidentiality and Client Information
Securing Physical and Electronic Documents
Securing Technology-Mediated Therapy and Supervision Sessions
Securing of Recordings of Clinical Work
Confidentiality During University Supervision and Course Work
Accurate and Timely Record-Keeping
Rounding Hours
Telehealth Policy: Teletherapy and Telesupervision in Program Clinical Training
Confidentiality of Student Therapist Disclosures in Supervision
Liability Insurance
Payment for Student Internship Work
Students as Agency Employees
Students Paying for Supervision
Considerations for International Students
Student Use of Personal Vehicles
Student Mental and Physical Health
Placement Site and Site Supervisor Requirements and Responsibilities
Placement Site Requirements and Responsibilities
Placement Site Considerations for Providing Supervision
Supervisor-Supervisee Relationship
Supervision Methods
Benefits for Sites and Supervisors Working with the AUNE CFT MA Program

Site Supervisor Role and Qualifications

Site Supervision as a Complement to Program Clinical Supervision

**Qualifications for Site Supervisors** 

Program Definition of Supervisor Equivalency

Site Supervisor Qualifications Documentation

Site Supervisor Responsibilities

Evaluation and Professional Gatekeeping Responsibilities of the Site Supervisor

Plan for Ensuring Regular and Consistent Supervision of Student Therapists Throughout Internship

AUNE CFT MA Program and Faculty Supervisor Responsibilities

Couple and Family Therapy Clinical Training Team

Faculty Review of Students

Prior to Clinical Experience: Year One Progress Review

Throughout Clinical Experience: Evaluation for Continuation in Program

Program Clinical Supervision and Faculty Supervisor Responsibilities

Faculty Supervisor Evaluations of the Student

Faculty Supervisor Monitoring of Student Progress

Student Clinical Training Responsibilities

Considerations for Planning Internship: Student Responsibilities to Site

Student Responsibilities While Preparing for Internship

Student Responsibilities During Internship

Considerations for Conclusion of Clinical Training

Preparing the Capstone Presentation and Final Theory of Therapy Paper

Incomplete Clinical Hours and Need for Internship Continuation

Completing Internship Early

Clinical Considerations for Ending Internship

Preparing for Licensure Applications

Policy for Managing Difficulties with Sites, Site Supervisors, and Students

Remediation Plans and Changing Sites Due to Problems With a Site or Site Supervisor

Leaving a Site Early and Interruptions to Internship

Concerns with Student Performance

Student Personal Difficulties and Leave of Absence Protocol

Difficulties with Faculty Supervisors

University Policy for Student Grievances

Appendix A: Permission to Audio or Video Record Therapy Session

Appendix B: Clinical Evaluation Schedule

Appendix C: Evaluative Descriptor Rubric for Internship Courses

Appendix D: Antioch Skills Evaluation Device

Appendix E: Capstone Presentation Assessment Rubric

#### **CFT MA Clinical Training Points of Contact**

#### **Department of Applied Psychology**

#### **Department Chairperson**

Lucille H. Byno, Ph.D., LMFT 850-544-5886, <u>lbyno@antioch.edu</u>

Director of CFT Clinical Training; Director of Antioch University Couple and Family Therapy Institute Jinsook Song, Ph.D., LMFT 703-407-2347; jsong@antioch.edu

Administrative Assistant, Clinical Training Team Jane Pitts jpitts@antioch.edu

#### **Couple and Family Therapy Program Faculty**

Kristi Harrison, Ph.D., LMFT, AAMFT Approved Supervisor CFT MA Program Director, 603-283-2140, <u>kharrison@antioch.edu</u>

Pia Alexander, M.S., LMFT, AAMFT Approved Supervisor Candidate Teaching faculty, 917-720-2126, <u>palexander6@antioch.edu</u>

Lucille H. Byno, Ph.D., LMFT, AAMFT Approved Supervisor Department Chair, 850-544-5886, <u>lbyno@antioch.edu</u>

Denzel L. Jones, Ph.D., LMFT, AAMFT Approved Supervisor Core Faculty, 603-283-2159; <u>djones10@antioch.edu</u>

Kevin P. Lyness, Ph.D., LMFT, AAMFT Approved Supervisor CFT Ph.D. Program Director, 603-283-2149, <u>klyness@antioch.edu</u>

Jinsook Song, Ph.D., LMFT, AAMFT Approved Supervisor Director of Clinical Training, 703-407-2347; jsong@antioch.edu

Markie Twist, Ph.D., LMFT, AAMFT Approved Supervisor Teaching Faculty, <u>mtwist@antioch.edu</u>

Sharon Fitzgerald, PhD, LCFT, AAMFT Approved Supervisor Clinical Faculty, 603-283-2157, <u>sfitzgerad@antioch.edu</u>

#### Administrative Assistant, Antioch University Couple and Family Therapy Institute

Lisa Stewart <u>lstewart4@antioch.edu</u>

#### **Program Clinical Supervisors**

All supervisors can be contacted through the Antioch University Couple and Family Institute (AUCFTI) at 603-283-2156. Walter Lowe, Ph.D., LMFT, AAMFT Approved Supervisor, Adjunct Faculty Pel Boucher, PhD, LMHC, LMFT, CCTP, ACS, Adjunct Faculty, Supervisor Candidate Steffen Gillom, PhD, Adjunct Faculty, Supervisor Candidate Carrie Hatch, M.S., LMFT, Adjunct Faculty, Supervisor Candidate Rashida Ingram, Ph.D., Adjunct Faculty, Supervisor Candidate Jonathan Leitch, LCSW, Adjunct Faculty, Supervisor Candidate Marquitta Fields, M.S., PLMFT, Adjunct Faculty, Supervisor Candidate Starlin Astacio, M.S., LMFT, Adjunct Faculty, Supervisor Candidate Samanda Bryant Hagan, MDiv, LCSW-C, Adjunct Faculty, Supervisor Candidate Sema Bruno, M.A., S-CCEP, Adjunct Faculty, Supervisor Candidate Lydia Perry, MA, LPC, LADC, Adjunct Faculty, Supervisor Candidate Marissa Zerby, MA, Adjunct Faculty, Supervisor Candidate Jessica Malionek, MA, Adjunct Faculty, Supervisor Candidate Alisha Bachman, MA, LMFT, Adjunct Faculty, Supervisor Candidate

#### Introduction to the Antioch University New England Couple and Family Therapy Masters Program

The Master's program in Couple and Family Therapy (CFT) is a 61-credit low residency program leading to the Master of Arts (M.A.) degree in Couple and Family Therapy and is accredited by the Commission on Accreditation for Marriage and Family Therapy Education (COAMFTE; <u>https://www.coamfte.org/</u>). The program is designed to be a full-time, concentrated, integrated experience with students completing the coursework and clinical hours in eight semesters over three years. The program offers an introduction to systemic, feminist, modern and postmodern theories as foundation for clinical work with individuals, couples, families, groups, and larger systems from a social justice perspective. Faculty draw upon a variety of teaching approaches and aim to provide a comprehensive program that introduces students to the broad base of practice within the family therapy field.

The Antioch University New England CFT program believes that CFTs have a relational/systemic philosophy and endorse relational/systemic ethics. This relational/systemic philosophy "focuses on relationships, including patterns of interaction between individuals that organizes relationship dynamics with an emphasis on what is happening rather than why it is happening. Relational systems composed of individuals are seen as self-organizing, dynamic entities embedded in contexts of larger systems and function both as subsystems and suprasystems with biopsychosocial influence. Recognizing and respecting the relational field of interconnection and influence serves as the foundation for professional efforts to engage others, make meaning, and participate in change" (COAMFTE Standards, Version 12.5, p. 36). The program strives to train therapists who are multi-culturally informed, consider a global context, and value the creative stimulating synergy that comes from interacting with diverse populations of people. CFTs keep the tenants of the AAMFT Code of Ethics in all of their work.

#### **Program Mission**

The mission of the Couple and Family Therapy Program is to develop competent beginning couple and family therapists through an experiential educational approach. We promote multicultural awareness and advocate for social justice in the CFT field. The program's goals and philosophy parallel the standards set by the Commission on Accreditation for Marriage and Family Therapy Education and the American Association for Marriage and Family Therapy (AAMFT; http://www.aamft.org).

#### Program Goals and Student Learning Outcomes

The CFT MA clinical training experience (i.e., internship) is the program's foundational application component and provides students with essential opportunities to transform academic learning into practical skill in order to become competent entry level professionals. The program's goals span five domains of professional competency–knowledge, practice, ethics, research, and diversity–and correspond to a total of 11 student learning outcomes to be accomplished by the end of the clinical training experience, which also coincides with the end of the program.

# Program Goal 1 (Knowledge): Educate students on the foundational knowledge and broader content areas required for effective CFT practice.

• SLO1: Students demonstrate knowledge of CFT models and interventions.

 SLO2: Students demonstrate knowledge of broader content areas in CFT, including human development and family studies, families in larger systems, human sexuality and sex therapy, addictions, and intrafamilial violence.

# Program Goal 2 (Practice): Train students to apply clinical systemic skills and models to practice as a CFT.

- SLO3: Students apply systemic/relational model interventions in clinical practice.
- SLO4: Students demonstrate competency in systemic assessment, diagnosis, and treatment planning.
- SLO5: Students demonstrate basic systemic/relational therapeutic skills in clinical practice.

# Program Goal 3 (Ethics): Promote the development of ethical professionals and practices in the field of CFT.

- SLO6: Students demonstrate professionalism in CFT.
- SLO7: Students demonstrate understanding and application of ethical codes, laws, and principles in CFT practice.

# Program Goal 4 (Research): Educate students on the application and critique of CFT research.

- SLO8: Students demonstrate understanding of qualitative and quantitative research methodologies through a critical lens.
- SLO9: Students apply research to clinical practice.

# Program Goal 5 (Diversity): Advance the profession by training students to practice CFT from a socially just stance.

- SLO10: Students demonstrate self-awareness of social structures, social locations, experiences, and biases that influence their practice as CFTs.
- SLO11: Students pay attention to issues of diversity, equity, and inclusivity across all domains of CFT.

# **Overview of Clinical Experience Requirements**

The goal of the CFT MA clinical training experience, i.e. internship, is to offer students the opportunity to provide direct long-term and short-term psychotherapy services to individuals, couples, and families of various compositions, at different life stages, and with a variety of presenting problems. Throughout this **commitment**, students assume a primary role in assessment, treatment planning, and conducting couple and family therapy under supervision. Throughout clinical training, students will develop competence in providing **in-person ongoing therapy sessions as the primary therapist**, engaging in consistent supervision with both a program clinical supervisor and a local clinical supervisor.

The clinical training experience takes place over the course of five semesters, typically beginning in the fall of the second year of the program and continuing throughout the second and third years of the program. During the clinical training experience, students are continuously enrolled in clinical courses, completing Internship courses I, II, III, IV, and V over approximately 20 months, as well as

continuing required didactic coursework throughout this time. Prior to beginning the clinical training experience, students must identify a clinical placement and qualified clinical supervisor near where they reside. Students who reside near Keene, NH or who are able to relocate to Keene may complete the first year of their clinical training at the Antioch University Couple and Family Therapy Institute (AUCFTI). Students not in Keene may choose to change placements, often before or during Internship III. Others will choose to remain at the same placement for the duration of their internship. While the program provides students with support around locating a clinical training placement, it is the responsibility of the student to identify potential placements and secure an appropriate placement.

The CFT MA clinical training requirements are designed to meet or exceed the foundational practice requirements established by COAMFTE version 12.5 standards, as well as the educational requirements for licensure in New Hampshire, where the program is physically based. As a low-residency program, we have many students (a majority) who reside outside of New Hampshire and who plan to pursue LMFT licensure in states or provinces other than New Hampshire. The program's clinical training requirements set minimum standards that surpass COAMFTE and New Hampshire requirements while also providing a foundation on which students in other locations may complete state or provincial requirements that exceed those of COAMFTE and New Hampshire. The AUNE CFT MA program requires students to meet the graduate clinical practice requirements for the state that they have declared as their intended state of licensure. For students practicing in and planning to pursue licensure in locations other than New Hampshire, the program will always defer to students' state or provincial standards, if they exceed program standards. Students, supported by their local Site Supervisors, are responsible for being informed about and adhering to location-specific requirements.

Because licensure requirements frequently change, students are responsible for reading their province's or state's LMFT licensure requirements and working with the Clinical Training Director to determine current educational requirements for licensure. In addition to being informed about licensure portability considerations prior to enrolling, students are formally required to conduct their own research on licensure during their ethics course in their first semester, as well as during the process of preparing to start clinical training. State-specific requirements for graduate coursework and for graduate program clinical practice will be documented in an individualized student clinical training plan.

While the program strives to support students with planning for future licensure, the CFT program and faculty cannot predict future licensure requirements or changes, nor are they able to interpret how licensure boards apply their own standards. Students are directed to the <u>website of the AAMFT</u> for current information on licensure requirements for the Licensed Couple and Family Therapist across North America. Students are also encouraged to call and write State Boards directly with questions and to obtain copies of all answers *in writing.* The Antioch CFT program will provide training in alignment with current COAMFTE guidelines but cannot promise to meet the future requirements of every state or provincial LMFT license, as these occasionally change and students must meet licensure requirements that exist at the time of their LMFT application. Please note that the program does not follow or provide training for any other type of mental health license.

The AUNE CFT MA clinical training requirements—including the clinical hours required for graduation, the requirements for clinical supervision, and the policies governing student clinical practice—meet or exceed standards established by COAMFTE and by New Hampshire licensure requirements.

Contact Hours Required

- Total of 500 contact hours
- Minimum of 300 direct clinical contact hours (all 300 hours will meet COAMFTE definition of direct contact)
  - Students in states or provinces requiring more than 300 hours will complete what their state requires
  - Students in states or provinces that accept alternative hours or that do not require more than 300 hours can complete up to 200 alternative contact hours for a required total of 500 contact hours
- Minimum of 150 relational therapy direct clinical hours (all 150 relational therapy hours must meet COAMFTE definitions of direct contact and relational therapy)
- Minimum of 150 hours of direct clinical contact that takes place with the therapist and the client in the same room (i.e., not delivered via telehealth) (please see <u>NOTE</u> below)
- Up to 200 contact hours may be alternative hours, according to the program's <u>definition of</u> <u>Alternative Contact</u> (students may only count alternative hours if doing so is allowable by their state or province)
- Minimum of 1250 hours on site

Supervision Hours Required

- Weekly AAMFT Approved supervision provided by Faculty Supervisors (i.e., Program Clinical Supervisors) with a minimum of 100 hours total. Students are required to continue in weekly program supervision throughout their clinical training, regardless of whether they have exceeded the minimum hours required.
- Minimum of 50 hours of observable data supervision by Faculty Supervisors (i.e., Program Clinical Supervisors)
- Weekly local clinical supervision (Site Supervisor) in alignment with state or provincial licensing requirements. Wherever possible, site supervision should be individual or dyadic.

The contact hours and supervision requirements listed above reflect the program's requirements for ALL students, regardless of their location or intended state of licensure. Students are required to declare their intended state of licensure prior to starting clinical training and will be required to complete contact and supervision hours that, as far as the Program can determine, align with the intended state of licensure. It is important for students to understand that the Program cannot interpret licensing regulations for students, nor can the program make firm determinations about what licensing boards will or will accept in terms of graduate clinical training. The Program ensures that all students meet program requirements and COAMFTE standards.

NOTE regarding requirement for in-the-same room direct clinical contact: In the event that public health or other extenuating circumstances present substantial barriers to completing 150 hours of in-the-same room direct clinical contact, a student may request an extenuating circumstances exception to the 150-hour requirement. Such requests should be directed to the Director of Clinical Training in writing and should document the extenuating circumstances leading to the request.

# Structure of Clinical Training

Prior to starting clinical training, students must complete a number of preparation steps, including researching the clinical training educational requirements in their intended state of licensure,

searching for potential placements, and becoming familiar with the placement application process. These preparation steps, which are explained further below, are addressed in students' coursework, as well as being supported by Faculty Academic Advisors and the Director of Clinical Training. To proceed into their first internship course, students must have a fully approved placement. Typically, students start their internship at the beginning of their fourth semester.

During Internship courses I & II, students engage in a part-time clinical experience where they start to integrate academic knowledge with the practice of couple and family therapy. It is expected that Faculty Supervisors and Site Supervisors will closely scaffold students as they orient themselves to the process of providing therapy.

- Requirements during Internship courses I & II (2 semesters)
  - o 6-10 hours per week at the clinical site
  - o Minimum 30 contact hours per semester
  - o Minimum 30 hours of Faculty Clinical Supervision per semester
  - o Minimum 15 hours of Site Supervision per semester

Internships III, IV & V are considered full-time experiences where students continue to integrate their academic knowledge with the practice of couple and family therapy. Students will further develop their identity as CFTs while working more independently, yet under close supervision, as therapists at their local clinical sites.

- Requirements during Internship courses III, IV & V (3 semesters)
  - o 20-25 hours per week at the clinical site
  - o Minimum 150 contact hours per semester
  - o Minimum 50 relational direct contact hours per semester
  - o Minimum 30 hours of Faculty Clinical Supervision per semester
  - o Minimum 15 hours of Site Supervision per semester

If all contact hours and supervision hours are not completed by the end of the five-semester internship experience, the student must request an internship continuation. *No course credit will be given for the final semester of internship until all clinical requirements are complete*. If the student cannot complete their hours before the end of the continuation period, they may have to pay additional tuition to allow time for completing the required hours. The student must remain enrolled via continuation to be qualified to provide therapy as a graduate student intern and also to be covered by AUNE's liability insurance. If a student fails a semester of internship, the program may allow a student to re-enroll and retake the course after a remediation plan is completed to the satisfaction of the core CFT faculty team.

#### Capstone Requirement: Final Case Presentation and Theory of Therapy Paper

By the end of the final semester (in Internship V), each student will make a final case presentation or Capstone Presentation that is approximately 45-50 minutes in length. This video case presentation demonstrates key elements of the student's theory of therapy (theory of change), incorporating 3 to 6 video clips of their therapy to illustrate their theory of therapy. These clips should be of progressive stages of therapy, and should ideally illustrate the points addressed in the accompanying final Theory of Therapy paper. The objective in the Capstone Presentation and final Theory of Therapy Paper is for the student to describe and illustrate their clinical work and professional identity as a couple and family therapist, serving as an opportunity to assess the student's accomplishment of the program's

learning outcomes. The Capstone Presentation is delivered to the internship group, including the faculty supervisor, and as well as one additional program faculty, who will serve as a second evaluator of both the Capstone Presentation and the final Theory of Therapy Paper. The presenting student may also invite their Site Supervisor to the presentation. Following the presentation, the group will provide constructive feedback to the student therapist. A summary evaluation will be provided by the Faculty Supervisor for the student's course grade, based on the grading rubric, and for the student's file as documentation of having met CFT master's program requirements.

The rubric for the assessment of the Capstone Presentation is included in <u>Appendix E</u>. Additional details about the Capstone Requirement are included in the <u>Student Responsibilities section</u> later in this handbook.

# **Program Definitions of Clinical Training Terms**

**Placement or Site:** Refers to the organization or clinical practice context where a student therapist completes their graduate clinical training experience. Many different settings can serve as appropriate Placements or Sites. Further details about site requirements are provided below.

**Faculty Supervisor or Faculty Clinical Supervisor:** Faculty supervisors are program faculty, either core or adjunct, who are specifically responsible for providing consistent, ongoing relational/systemic supervision throughout the CFT MA internship experience. Faculty Supervisors have professional identities as couple and family therapists, as well as training in relational/systemic supervision, thereby meeting criteria to qualify as Program Clinical Supervisors according to the COAMFTE version 12.5 standards. Faculty Supervisors serve as faculty for students' internship coursework and provide consistent and ongoing relational/systemic supervision, primarily in the form of group supervision, throughout the duration of the clinical training experience. Faculty Supervisors also serve as the faculty liaison, a primary point of contact between clinical placements, Site Supervisors, and the CFT MA program.

**Site Supervisor (Clinician of Record):** One of the requirements of placements or sites is that they provide student therapists with supervision that meets both state licensure standards and programmatic requirements. The Site Supervisor is a professional who is affiliated with the placement and who specifically enters into an agreement with the student therapist and the university. The Site Supervisor/Clinician of Record is administratively and clinically responsible for student training at the placement site. While students receive regular and consistent supervision from Faculty Supervisors, Site Supervisors are also expected to have training, experience, and demonstrated abilities as couple and family therapists and as clinical supervisors of couple and family therapists and systems-based models of therapy. Site Supervisors must be licensed in the state where the Site and clinical services are located. To the maximum extent possible, the Site Supervisor is expected to be an AAMFT Approved Supervisor or Supervisor Candidate, or meet the Program definition of supervisor equivalency, and in all cases must meet state requirements for providing MFT supervision in the state where the student is practicing. While Faculty Supervisors serve as the Program Clinical Supervisors according to COAMFTE standards, the CFT MA program upholds Site Supervisors to the same criteria to the maximum extent possible.

**Off-Site Supervisor:** In cases where a student's placement does not include a supervisor qualified to provide relational/systemic supervision, students may enter into an agreement with a supervisor who is off-site, i.e., not employed by the placement although still located in the same geographical vicinity as the student and placement. Students working with an Off-Site Supervisor must still have another

individual who is "on-site" and who is both qualified to provide clinical oversight and specifically responsible for doing so. In these cases, the Site Supervisor would still be considered the Clinician of Record.

**Student Therapist or Student Intern:** Refers to the CFT MA graduate student who is providing therapy as part of their graduate training experience. While the program, like many other graduate programs and regulatory bodies, refers to the clinical training experience as an internship, graduate student therapists must make it clear that they are not only interns but also student interns. This ensures that student therapists (or student interns) are accurately representing their status as professionals who are not only unlicensed but also not post-graduate interns.

**Affiliation Agreement:** The formal contract between the Antioch University New England (AUNE) and the Internship Placement Site that outlines the overall agreement between the two parties and specifies University and Site responsibilities with respect to the clinical training arrangement.

**Student Placement Agreement or Student Contract:** A formal contract that specifies student, Site, and Site Supervisor responsibilities for student's clinical training experience.

**Supervision Assist (SA):** HIPAA-compliant online platform that integrates the clinical experience tools into one location. Students, supervisors, and program leadership use SA to 1. Explore potential internship sites, 2. Complete site and supervisor applications, 3. Log supervision, client contact, and clock hours, 4. Record therapy sessions and share for supervision in a HIPAA-compliant manner, 5. Complete all evaluations, 6. Track progress and program requirements, and 7. Access all of their clinical and supervision hours after graduation. Students pay a one-time registration fee for SA.

# Clinical Experience Terminology

**Contact Hours:** This refers to time spent interacting *in real time* with recipients of therapy or recipients of an alternative service that is therapeutic in nature. Students will be expected to work with a wide variety of people, relationships, and problems. Internship placements will vary in their clientele year to year, by location and by mission, but sites are required to provide the opportunity to work with diverse clients. Students are expected to work respectfully and competently with people who are diverse in terms of age, culture, physical ability, ethnicity, family composition, gender, race, religion, sexual orientation, and socioeconomic status. The program defines two types of Contact Hours: Direct Clinical Contact Hours and Alternative Contact Hours.

**In-Person:** The COAMFTE version 12.5 standards use the term *in-person* to refer to an interaction that takes place synchronously (live or in real time), either with people physically located in the same room or interacting through technology assisted means (e.g., on a video conference call). Consistent with the COAMFTE standards, the program uses the term in-person in the same way. Please note that other regulatory bodies, specifically state licensing boards, may use *in-person* to refer only to interactions that take place with people physically in the same room as each other. Students are responsible for confirming how their licensure jurisdiction defines in-person and related terms (e.g., *face-to-face*) and ensuring that they record their clinical hours in such a way that they will be able to provide accurate records when they apply for licensure.

**Direct Clinical Contact Hours:** A therapeutic meeting of a therapist and client (individual, relational, or group) occurring in-person synchronously, either physically in the same location or mediated by technology. Assessments may be counted if they are in-person processes that are more than clerical

in nature and focus. Also, therapy services delivered through interactive team modalities may provide direct client contact for specific team members who have in-person interaction with the client/system during the session. Therapy team members who engage the therapeutic process only behind the mirror may not count the experience as direct client contact. Activities such as telephone contact, case planning, observation of therapy, record keeping, trainings, role-playing, travel, administrative activities, consultation with community members or professionals, and/or MFT relational/systemic supervision are not considered direct clinical contact. Some, although not all, of these activities may be considered Alternative Contact Hours (see definition of Alternative Contact Hours).

- COAMFTE version 12.5 standards allow for counting technology-mediated services as Direct Clinical Contact, however, some states mandate that graduate internship clinical hours must happen face-to-face with therapists and clients in the same room. Students may only count telehealth toward the Direct Clinical Contact Hours if their state does not require otherwise. See definition of <u>Teletherapy</u>, as well as <u>Telehealth Policy</u>.
- Direct Clinical Contact Hours fall into subcategories based on the client configuration (Individual Clinical Contact Hours, Couple Clinical Contact Hours, Family Clinical Contact Hours).

**Relational Clinical Contact Hours:** A category of direct clinical contact hours in which a clinician delivers therapeutic services with two or more individuals conjointly, who share an ongoing relationship beyond that which occurs in the therapeutic experience itself. Examples include family subsystems, intimate couple subsystems, enduring friendship/community support subsystems, and residential, treatment, or situationally connected subsystems.

- **Couples** are defined as two or more partners who request treatment for their intimate and/or family relationships.
- **Families** are a social unit of two or more individuals, related by blood or non-blood, characterized by emotional engagement and/or commitment, and self-defined as family.
- Short-term and long-term residential/situationally focused subsystems may also provide relational hours experience when the context includes ongoing relationship interaction beyond sessions with significant influence on the individuals involved.
- Relational hours also may be counted with relational subsystems that include a person whose only available means to participate in the in-person therapeutic meeting is telephonic or electronic (e.g., incarcerated, deployed or out-of-town subsystem members.)
- Group therapy can be counted as relational hours if those in the group therapy have a relationship outside of (above and beyond) the group itself. If the individuals in the group had relationships with one another before the group began, then the group therapy hours may be counted as relational. An example of this may be in-patient groups where the individuals lived together all day in a program.
- Please see policy regarding <u>Record-Keeping for Relational Contact Hours</u> for further information about documenting these hours.

Alternative Contact Hours: An activity involving a therapist and person(s) receiving an alternative service that is more than clerical in nature and that occurs in-person synchronously, either physically in the same location or mediated by technology. Examples may include interactive experiences that are therapeutic, psychoeducational, or assessment in nature and designed to support a therapeutic goal. All therapeutic activity completed as alternative hours must be approved by the Director of Clinical Training, evaluated for student competency, and addressed as part of the clinical student's supervision process.

Examples of Alternative Hours include but are not limited to:

- Interactive experiences with specific diverse or marginalized populations designed to be responsive to the therapeutic needs of the persons involved and offered in a manner that is respectful of the person and context.
- Interactive activity, individually or in a group, structured to promote specific therapeutic goals such as PTSD symptom management skills, parent-child attachment, couple/family relationship skills, trauma/abuse/domestic violence recovery, or community disaster stress management/support.
- Short-term assessment activity using a structured interview process, instrument, or task (e.g. genogram) as part of a personal/relational enrichment experience.
- Teaming approaches (such as reflective teams) are allowed as Alternative Hours, provided the team has a consistent and sustained relationship with the client system in the same physical space (such as through a one-way mirror).

**NOTE:** Some states' LMFT regulations prohibit psychoeducation and/or assessments from counting as hours toward master's program internships. It is the responsibility of the student to confirm their respective state/province LMFT regulations and make use of the alternative hours option only as permitted by their state or province.

**Indirect Hours (also called Clock Hours or Time on Site):** Clock or indirect hours refer to the physical presence of the student working at field experience duties <u>or</u> time doing assignments related directly to clinical training for site duties. During the internship, students should acquire 1250 clock hours, which will be tracked along with other clinical hours categories. Students should not be answering general phones as a receptionist, cleaning, or doing other clerical (non-clinical) duties. Clock hours might include orientation, clinical work, supervision, clinical team meetings, grand round presentations, clinical paperwork, reading (or listening to a professional audiobook) directly related to a clinical case, team discussions, driving time between in-home sessions, and any other clinical training activities expected or permitted by the site. Clock hours are counted from the time the student "clocks in to work" until they "clock out" and do include normal breaks within the workday. Clock hours could also include special off-site trainings approved by either the site or the supervisor. For example, the time spent in learning sessions (both workshops and association meetings) at a professional family therapy conference, like the annual AAMFT conference, can count toward clock hours.

**Teletherapy:** The process of delivering synchronous therapeutic services using a secure video platform in accordance with relevant state, federal, and provincial regulatory requirements or guidelines. The online therapeutic interaction is consistent with state or provincial regulations for the location in which the clinical student therapist and participant(s) are physically located. See program's <u>Telehealth policy</u> below.

# Supervision Terminology

**Supervision**: A professional advisory relationship, distinguishable from psychotherapy or teaching, that focuses on the development of competencies and professional growth of the supervisee, as well as on protecting the public by ensuring therapy services provided by the supervisee are competent.

**Observable Data Supervision:** Supervision in which the basis of the supervisory conversation is the supervisor's direct observation of interactions with a client. This includes audio and video recordings of client sessions, as well as live (behind the mirror, in the room co-therapy, reflecting teams, etc.).

• Live Observation: If the client is present, this represents live observation supervision.

- **Recorded Observation:** If a student is watching a video recording of someone's work with a client, either their own work or another supervisee, this is supervision from recorded observation.
- **Recorded Audio:** If the student is listening to an audiotape of someone's work with a client, either their own work or another supervisee, this is supervision from recorded audio.

**Case Report Supervision:** If students are simply talking about cases, this is supervision from case report.

**Group Supervision**: Consists of one supervisor and eight or fewer students. Regardless of the number of supervisors present, a group cannot exceed eight students to qualify for group supervision. For example, ten students and two supervisors are not appropriate because the number of students exceeds eight. The Program has made the decision to limit Antioch supervision groups to a maximum of six students.

Individual Supervision: Defined as one supervisor with one or two supervisees.

**Virtual Supervision or Telesupervision:** Is the process of delivering synchronous relational/systemic supervision using a secure video platform. The online supervisory interaction must comply with relevant state, federal, and provincial regulations for the location in which the clinical site, student therapist, and supervisor are physically located. See <u>Telehealth policy</u> for additional information.

#### **Essential Clinical Training Policies**

The following policies apply to all parties involved in the program's clinical training, including students, placement sites and Site Supervisors, Faculty Supervisors, and program administration.

Adherence to Ethical Code and All Applicable Legal Standards

All program clinical training activities, including clinical services and clinical supervision, will be carried out according to the AAMFT Code of Ethics, as well as state and federal regulations applicable to where the site, Site Supervisor, and student are located. The Site Supervisor/Clinician of Record is responsible for oversight of student's clinical work, ensuring alignment with state/provincial laws and regulations and upholding the standards in the AAMFT Code of Ethics (AAMFT, 2015).

Clinical Training Requirements and Future Plans for Seeking Licensure

Prior to seeking an internship placement, students are required to inform the program of where they plan to complete their clinical training experience. At the beginning of the program, students are also required to confirm where they intend to pursue licensure. While the program course sequence and clinical requirements are designed to meet COAMFTE standards and align with the educational requirements for licensure in New Hampshire, the clinical experience is structured to allow students to complete state clinical requirements that exceed COAMFTE standards. Students are responsible for confirming state-specific clinical requirements that exceed the program's requirements. Should a state require more than the program requires, students should follow the higher standard.

Prior to starting clinical training, students will confirm the following:

- How many total hours of direct clinical contact are required by the state for its graduate clinical training experience? (note that this refers to the clinical experience that occurs within the qualifying degree and not the post-degree supervised clinical experience)
- Does the state specify a number or percentage of relational therapy contact hours? (e.g., in some states, 250 hours of relational therapy are required, or half of the contact hours must be relational)
- Are direct contact hours provided by telehealth acceptable for the state's graduate education clinical experience? (some states define direct clinical contact as therapy provided with the client and therapist in the same room)
- Are virtual supervision hours acceptable for the state's graduate education clinical experience?
- Does the state specify how much supervision must be individual supervision, versus group supervision?
- Will the state allow alternative contact hours to be counted toward the total hours requirement?

#### Confidentiality and Client Information

The AAMFT Code of Ethics (2015), particularly Standard II on Confidentiality, as well as federal legislation (e.g., HIPAA) define our professional responsibility to protect the confidentiality of our clients. In the information age, protected information exists in a variety of forms, making professional responsibility for protecting confidentiality increasingly complex. Additionally, Student Therapists engage in multiple forms of supervision, which are associated with additional considerations related to protecting client confidentiality.

# Securing Physical and Electronic Documents

Clinical documentation must be protected at all times. This includes both physical and electronic materials that contain protected health information and/or identifying information about clients. Physical documents should never be taken outside of the placement facility without permission and must always be kept in a locked container (file cabinet or other cabinet) in a secured (locked) room. For written materials used for university-based supervision, the student should use only initials and codes to disguise any identifying information in the case.

In addition to these AUNE CFT program policies, the clinical experience site will have similar policies regarding: (1) how long student therapists are to keep recordings; (2) the secure and locked housing of all clinical material; (3) the secure and locked transportation of clinical material to university-based supervision; and (4) for the appropriate destruction of client materials. All site policies will comply with HIPAA and the AAMFT Code of Ethics.

# Securing Technology-Mediated Therapy and Supervision Sessions

All students in the CFT MA program will participate in virtual supervision (telesupervision) as part of their clinical training experience. Additionally, in some contexts, students will provide teletherapy as part of their clinical experience. In both telesupervision and teletherapy, Student Therapists are responsible for establishing a physical environment, including technology equipment, that ensures both the quality and the security of the clinical interaction. Students engaging in teletherapy as part of their placement must follow all site policies and state/provincial regulations pertaining to technology-mediated therapy, in addition to adhering to program policies. At a minimum, students must have access to a fast, secure internet connection and a computer with a webcam. They must also establish a private place to participate in telehealth interactions, ensuring that no one else can see or hear the communication taking place.

While attending Antioch virtual supervision, students must be alone, on camera, and fully engaged. Supervision sessions typically take place using a a HIPAA-compliant video conferencing platform. Joining group supervision while driving, while in a public location, or while on public or unsecured Internet connection is not permitted. Students are evaluated on their adherence to these expectations as part of class participation evaluative assessments in clinical supervision.

# Securing of Recordings of Clinical Work

The student is required to use Supervision Assist's HIPAA compliant recording so as to meet the programmatic requirements for video recorded clinical work for their site supervision and course requirements. This eliminates student's having to provide recording equipment and transport it off site. Students are not to use the site's or their own personal equipment to record sessions. No recordings should be transported outside of the placement site. Students must obtain written permission from clients to record, and keep the written permission in the client's clinical file (See Example in Appendix B). Recordings should be shared only within supervision. Recordings are never to be reviewed outside of supervision, unless the Student Therapist is alone. Recordings in Supervision Assist will be deleted automatically after one year.

# Confidentiality During University Supervision and Course Work

Students, Faculty Supervisors, and Site Supervisors will not discuss clients or supervision with persons not involved with the case at the placement site or outside of the supervision group; this includes not discussing clients with significant others. The only exceptions are if the student has a supervision problem (either with a site or with a clinical course) that cannot be resolved by the Faculty Supervisor. In this instance, the student may discuss supervision issues with the CFT Director of Clinical Training or the CFT Program Director.

Other than in confidential site supervision meetings, clients are **not** to be discussed outside of university supervision. When discussing clients within university supervision, all client identifying information will be kept confidential. Clients are **never** to be talked about in public spaces or over the Internet—even with CFT faculty and classmates. In university supervision, clients' identifying information will not be revealed, and only initials will be used in supervision. Students may bring case-specific information into CFT class discussions or assignments in which cases are used to learn the application of CFT training ideas (e.g., for assignments like treatment plans, assessments, and case examples of applying a therapy model). Names will **never** be disclosed and identifying information will be altered slightly so as to protect client identity.

#### Accurate and Timely Record-Keeping

In addition to complying with legal, ethical, and site requirements for maintaining records for clinical practice, the student is responsible for documenting client contact and supervision hours and requesting the signatures of the Clinician of Record/Site Supervisor in Supervision Assist. Although it is best practice to log clinical and supervision hours daily, students are expected to complete their logs no less than monthly. **Failure to complete clinical and supervision hours in SA will result in delayed credit for the term until the hours are filed, and a deduction in the participation and documentation grade.** Student should be sure all client documentation is completed in a timely manner, both to fulfill their ethical and legal responsibilities and because Supervisors will NOT sign logs if all client-related work is not completed. A student's completion of their hour logs asserts that they have done all clinical work related to these hours in an ethical and complete manner

and that these hours are an accurate summary of that work. The student will maintain records of all clinical experience activities, and file all relevant forms in a timely manner.

# **Rounding Hours**

Students may <u>not</u> round clinical or supervision hours up or down to more than the closest 5-minute increment. Do <u>not</u> round up a session that concludes after 45 or 50 minutes to 60 minutes. Rounding may jeopardize the ability to use hours for licensure in some states.

# **Record-Keeping for Relational Contact Hours**

The program uses the COAMFTE definition of relational therapy, which is therapy delivered to two or more related individuals conjointly. Please see the definition of Relational Clinical Contact Hours for more information about what it means for individuals to be related. The program defines therapy delivered 'conjointly' as a session that involves some portion of the session where two or more related individuals engage therapeutically with the therapist at the same time. A conjoint session may include two or more individuals interacting for part or all of the session, and the whole session may be recorded as relational therapy if there is meaningful therapeutic interaction among the related individuals during some portion of the session. Examples of meaningful therapeutic interaction include bringing parents of minor clients into session to provide a progress update or discuss relationships, or talking with the members of a couple about their relationship before proceeding with meeting with one or both partners individually. Examples of interactions that would not be meaningfully therapeutic would be things like scheduling conversations or a parent getting their child set up on a telehealth call without the parent being involved in substantive conversation. If a conversation could happen at the front desk or in a lobby (e.g., where a family member is essentially dropping off another family member), this would not be considered a relational therapy session. Only in rare cases would a conjoint interaction lasting less than 10 minutes qualify the session to count as relational therapy. If the student is unsure whether a particular session included meaningful therapeutic interaction among two or more individuals, students should consult with their Faculty Supervisor. Students must be aware that counting of clinical training hours (i.e., whether a session is relational or individual) is entirely separate from how the session can or should be recorded for billing purposes. Students must consult with their Site Supervisors about Site policies for record-keeping with respect to therapy involving couples or families.

Telehealth Policy: Teletherapy and Telesupervision in Program Clinical Training

The AAMFT Code of Ethics (2015) and COAMFTE standards version 12.5 both recognize technology-assisted clinical services as an important and evolving dimension of couple and family therapy practice. Unlike past versions of the COAMFTE standards, version 12.5 allows for counting teletherapy and telesupervision toward accredited programs' clinical requirements. While COAMFTE standards allow for counting technology-mediated services, states and other jurisdictions may limit or prohibit the practice of teletherapy by student therapists. Moreover, some states mandate that graduate internship clinical hours must happen face-to-face, i.e., with therapists and clients in the same room.

The Antioch CFT MA program requires that, where teletherapy *is* permitted, Sites, Site Supervisors, and Student Therapists must follow all state/provincial laws regarding the delivery of telehealth services and adhere to the AAMFT Code of Ethics (2015), particularly Standard IV, Technology Assisted Professional Services.

Standard 6.1, Technology Assisted Services, states "Prior to commencing therapy or supervision services through electronic means (including but not limited to phone and Internet), marriage and family therapists ensure that they are compliant with all relevant laws for the delivery of such services. Additionally, marriage and family therapists must: (a) determine that technologically-assisted services or supervision are appropriate for clients or supervisees, considering professional, intellectual, emotional, and physical needs; (b) inform clients or supervisees of the potential risks and benefits associated with technologically-assisted services; (c) ensure the security of their communication medium; and (d) only commence electronic therapy or supervision after appropriate education, training, or supervised experience using the relevant technology" (AAMFT Code of Ethics, 2015).

As the Clinician of Record, Site Supervisors are responsible for knowing relevant regulations for delivering technology-assisted therapy and supervision in their state or province. Student Therapists will not provide telehealth in any location or circumstance where doing so is prohibited.

In addition to affirming their knowledge of relevant regulatory requirements governing telehealth, Site Supervisors must be qualified to provide telehealth themselves, maintaining current knowledge, skill, and documented training needed to deliver telehealth services ethically, legally, and competently in the context of continuous changes with technology and regulations. Site Supervisors must be trained in the technology needed to supervise telehealth services that are provided by the student therapist, including being familiar with how to use Supervision Assist to review session recordings or to join sessions lives.

As part of their use of telehealth methods, Sites, Site Supervisors, and Student Therapists must follow all state/provincial laws regarding the delivery of therapy services by student interns, regardless of the modality of delivery. For example, if a state does not allow student therapists to provide therapy while physically located by themselves in a building, then for telehealth, this means that the supervisor must be available in real time through technology-assisted means, during the student's sessions. Similar to the student therapist being in an office seeing clients and the supervisor being down the hall in another office - the supervisor is available but not in the room.

The AAMFT Code of Ethics standard 6.5 (2015) states "Therapists and supervisors follow all applicable laws regarding location of practice and services, and do not use technologically-assisted means for practicing outside of their allowed jurisdictions." All students, regardless of their engagement in telehealth, must declare to the program what state or jurisdiction is the documented location for their clinical training experience. In the case of students providing teletherapy, students may only provide teletherapy services to clients in the state where the site is located and where the supervisor is licensed. Additionally, the client needs to be in that state at the time of the appointment, because states regulate services based on where the recipient of the service is physically located. Other than in cases where a student resides within driving distance to a site and happens to live across a state border (e.g., a student's site is in NY and they live in NJ), students are not allowed to provide teletherapy across state lines, including while traveling themselves or while their client is traveling.

As part of their oversight of student therapists, Site Supervisors and Faculty Supervisors both have a responsibility to support students in competent and ethical practice, which includes evaluating clinical appropriateness of telehealth with particular clients and ensuring that clients are sufficiently informed of the risks and responsibilities associated with technology-assisted services.

Sites and Site Supervisors must support students in using appropriate tools for telehealth and telesupervision in order to ensure both the security and quality of the services. The CFT MA program provides students with access to HIPAA compliant video conferencing, as well as HIPAA-compliant recording, storage, and review of client sessions.

Students learn about telehealth practices during their ethics and pre-internship clinical skills courses. Students are specifically encouraged to review the report published by AAMFT entitled Best Practices in the Online Practice of Couple and Family Therapy (https://www.aamft.org/online\_education/online\_therapy\_guidelines\_2.aspx).

Confidentiality of Student Therapist Disclosures in Supervision

All discussion regarding AUNE CFT students will be contained within the Student/Site Supervisor/Faculty Supervisor/Program Administration boundary. Even within this boundary of privileged communication, information regarding a student will be shared on an "as necessary" basis in accordance with the AAMFT Code of Ethics (2015, standard 4.7) which states that couple and family therapists "do not disclose supervisee confidences except by written authorization or waiver, or when mandated or permitted by law. In educational or training settings where there are multiple supervisors, disclosures are permitted only to other professional colleagues, administrators, or employers who share responsibility for training of the supervisee. Verbal authorization will not be sufficient except in emergency situations, unless prohibited by law."

This means that information shared by a student with any supervisor or faculty will be shared with others on a need-to-know basis to ensure that the student receives the best training possible. For example, issues such as a student having a learning disability, going through a divorce, or getting behind on work would be examples of need-to-know issues that would be shared for the purposes of the student's training.

#### Liability Insurance

Antioch University New England provides Liability Insurance coverage for all CFT students **enrolled** in internship courses. A student who has a second extension or an internship continuation approved and on-file with the Registrar's office is considered enrolled. Students who are not considered enrolled are **not covered** by the University's policy.

Students cannot provide clinical services without their own current personal liability insurance coverage. While enrolled in Internship I, II, III, IV & V, students are required to be student members of the AAMFT and to obtain their own student-level liability insurance through their AAMFT membership. A copy of the student's liability insurance certificate must be uploaded to their Supervision Assist account every semester that they are enrolled in an internship course.

Students having their own Liability Insurance is of benefit for several reasons. One is that it is good to have a personal liability coverage history when applying for coverage after graduation. Second, Antioch's policy is good, but limited in coverage. It is of benefit to students to carry their own liability insurance and thus have access to their own lawyer (not just the lawyer who works for Antioch or a placement site). Third, there are professional benefits to being an AAMFT student member, including discounts on professional media, access to professional journals and practice strategies, and discounted or free access to the annual AAMFT conference as a student volunteer. AAMFT Membership info: <a href="https://www.aamft.org/join">https://www.aamft.org/join</a>.

Placement sites are encouraged to include students on their liability insurance since students are working under the Site Supervisor's license.

Payment for Student Internship Work

It is rare for Master's level clinical internship placements to pay students, although, it is both possible and permissible for sites to pay student clinicians. However, clients may <u>never</u> directly pay students for services because this can be misconstrued that the student is the Clinician of Record/Site Supervisor. In some cases, a site may qualify to participate in the federal work-study program through AUNE. Among other requirements, in order to do this the site must intend to pay someone to cover the work that the student would do if they did not hire a student clinician. Specific work-study requirements would be handled through the work-study administrative team at AUNE and the site. Students should inquire to the CFT program administrators if they think their site might qualify. Students must have already qualified to receive work-study money according to AUNE's regulations and time lines.

#### **Students as Agency Employees**

Consideration must be given to the learning dimension of the student's placement. "Trainees" are allowed freedom for exploration, learning, and mistakes. A staff member may not have that luxury. Students may not be employed as a staff member within the same unit as their clinical training experience, and they must have different supervisors in each position. Students may be paid a stipend as student clinicians by the agency, but students are never allowed to accept direct payment from clients for services.

#### Students Paying for Supervision

Many states' licensure boards clearly state that students may not pay for supervision above tuition payments. Because of this AUNE students cannot be asked to pay for supervision at their placement sites. AUNE will not pay Site Supervisors either, but will provide periodic education opportunities for free or at minimal charge.

#### Considerations for International Students

As student clinicians provide an off-campus service and have some contractual accountability to the off-campus location, international students may be required by the U.S. Government to get special authorization for this off-campus work. It is the student's responsibility to contact the proper authorities for their specific situation. International students should also refer to the AUNE Student Handbook and consult with the International Student Advisor as F-1 Student Status also requires students to be pursuing full-time study.

#### Student Use of Personal Vehicles

Please note that neither the Antioch Insurance nor the student-level liability insurance covers student therapists for clients in their private vehicle. For this and other safety issues, the CFT program does **not** want students transporting clients in their personal vehicles. This can be dangerous and we do not want students in any potentially dangerous situation. It is expected that student therapists will use their own vehicle to get from site to site, or house to house when doing clinical work in clients' own

homes. Sites involving in-home therapy should have liability insurance that covers students while working in-home.

Student Mental and Physical Health

The AUNE CFT program faculty encourage CFT students to have personal medical insurance so that they can maintain good health and have access to health care throughout their studies. Graduate study and training to become a therapist can be stressful. Taking care of oneself throughout this process is supported and encouraged by the faculty. At this time Antioch does not provide health insurance to its students. All AUNE students have access to mental health services the University's <u>WellConnect program</u> (link requires Antioch login to access). Students are encouraged to take advantage of therapy through this service if they have not already experienced what it is like to be a client, or if they are feeling stressed.

# Placement Site and Site Supervisor Requirements and Responsibilities

Placement Site Requirements and Responsibilities

The clinical training placement (i.e., internship placement) offers the student the opportunity to apply concepts and interventions learned from the AUNE CFT program's coursework in a professional and supportive learning environment. A variety of different practice contexts can serve as appropriate placements for the CFT MA internship experience. The following are required:

- Student therapists must have the opportunity to provide therapy, as opposed to other types of services, and specifically the opportunity to provide relational (couple and/or family) therapy services.
- The Site must treat the student's work as a learning experience. The student is not to be treated as an employee, nor held to this standard.
- The placement should provide the opportunity to work with a variety of people, relationships, and problems.
- The internship placement site should provide clinical experiences that allow students to meet programmatic requirements, offering as culturally diverse a clientele as possible in regard to culture, race, religion, socioeconomic status, ethnicity, age, sexual orientation, and family configuration.
- The placement site provides appropriate facilities for the student, ensuring the student has requisite office space and document storage resources to meet client needs and fulfill ethical responsibilities regarding confidentiality issues and therapeutic best practices.
- Sites must have documented policies on confidentiality and security of documentation, including policies requiring adherence to HIPAA and the AAMFT Code of Ethics.
- In cases where a Site has student therapists engaging in telehealth services, the Site must have specific policies, as well as physical and technological tools, necessary to support the ethical, legal, and competent delivery of telehealth services.
- The site must provide an orientation to beginning students to orient and train them in documentation requirements, site policies, and procedures.
- The site will not require students to attend meetings that conflict with student courses scheduled at AUNE.
- The site will offer the student exposure to various intake assessment models (e.g. mental status, genogram and other systemic assessment tools, DSM-5 diagnoses, history gathering,

and standardized testing). Students must have training for conducting assessments and intakes and be supervised by someone knowledgeable about the assessment format.

- The site agrees to accurately represent to the public the type of services rendered, and the training status of the student therapist.
- The internship site must have an emergency policy (for example, for violence, suicidal or homicidal clients) and provide a copy in writing to the student.
- Each placement site must have a grievance policy and procedure and give a copy of this to the student during orientation.
- The placement site will offer the student weekly individual or dyadic, systemic supervision of student's delivery of clinical services. The Site Supervisor must serve as the Clinician of Record and have primary responsibility for overseeing the student's clinical work.
- If the Site does not employ someone qualified to provide supervision, the Site, Student, and program may enter into an agreement with a qualified Off-Site Supervisor.
- Sometimes placement sites' staff changes and supervisors move on to other jobs. As a part of the contracted relationship between the Antioch CFT program and the site, the clinical training facility needs to advise the CFT program of **any and all changes** in the agency, staff, or the clinical/training program that might affect the student's clinical experience and education. By providing as much advance notice as possible, everyone is able to insure the best quality training for the student therapist. If there is a change of site supervisor, the student will need to submit a new placement application in Supervision Assist that includes the new site supervisor. The new application will need to be approved by the DCT prior to the student seeing clients under the new site supervisor.
- A CFT Supervisor Application must be completed (in Supervision Assist) for each supervisor who supervises the AUNE student at the Site. See *Site Supervisor Qualifications and Responsibilities* in this handbook.

Placement Site Considerations for Providing Supervision

# Supervisor-Supervisee Relationship

A good working supervisory relationship is a cornerstone of successful clinical training. To maximize the quality of the relationship between student and supervisor we recommend: (1) an interview between assigned supervisor and student before acceptance is made; (2) periodic discussion of the supervisor/supervisee relationship; and (3) joint evaluation of the content and process by both the supervisor and the student. To help in the construction of a mutually satisfying supervision relationship, the CFT faculty recommend using Prest and Zimmerman's "A Guide: The Initial Supervision Session" checklist found on page 159 in Storm and Todd's book entitled *The Reasonably Complete Systemic Supervisor Resource Guide* (2003), published by Allyn and Bacon. Each semester of internship, the student and Site Supervisor are required to collaboratively construct a semester-specific training plan. This document includes learning goals for the students, and is available in the Supervision Assist portal. The student and each supervisor should refer to this document throughout the internship.

# Supervision Methods

Students have varied needs related to the structure of their supervisory experience and advancement in the program. The clinical background of our students ranges from having very little clinical experience to others who have had experience treating individuals, but little or no experience working from a systems perspective with couples and families. In each case, the supervision team will provide supervision which supports and challenges students at their current levels of experience. Supervision should be distinguishable from psychotherapy, didactic enrichment, or training activities. Although supervision will at times involve discussion of a student's personal issues, and will involve teaching students how to perform particular activities, these foci are usually in reference to clinical cases with which the students are working.

In accordance with current training practices and COAMFTE accreditation requirements, supervisors must use direct observation of therapy, or watch a recording of therapy during supervision. (Antioch CFT students are required to record sessions using Supervision Assist). Supervision may be done by reviewing audio or video recordings, live observation of therapy via a one-way mirror, live observation while sitting in the therapy room, or in co-therapy (collectively referred to as observed/live supervision). The students in the AUNE CFT program are required to obtain 50 hours of such supervision with their Faculty Supervisor specifically, however, all supervisors are strongly encouraged to incorporate observation-based supervision; observation-based supervision may be required in Site Supervision in certain states. Oral reports and discussion of written materials (report supervision), although useful, cannot replace live/video/audio supervision.

Students are also required to record segments of their work for presentations in the Internship courses at AUNE. All students need to be permitted to video or audio record therapy sessions and to view these recordings during AUNE Internship classes. Professional confidentiality rules about client data and the secured transportation of confidential materials will be followed by all parties at all times.

# Benefits for Sites and Supervisors Working with the AUNE CFT MA Program

For each academic semester of supervision, the site placement agency is entitled to enroll one person of its choosing in one course at Antioch University New England. It should be understood, however, that the person must meet whatever prerequisite requirements are established for that course and that, in courses where enrollment is limited, priority is given to degree candidates. Weekend workshops and institutes may also be available, as are a limited number of continuing education courses via Supervision Assist. Courses and workshops must be taken concurrently or within one term before or after the supervision was given. These learning experiences are tuition-free. However, there may be a University registration or CEU fee that must be paid. Complete registration information may be obtained from the Registrar's Office. The CFT faculty often offer several courses and weekend seminars. Lists of upcoming courses and seminars can be found at the AUNE website at *www.antiochne.edu*. Additionally, one person from each agency is eligible for a \$10,000 scholarship in the Applied Psychology department. Please contact the Director of Clinical Training for more information.

#### Site Supervisor Role and Qualifications

# Site Supervision as a Complement to Program Clinical Supervision

Student therapists in the AUNE CFT MA program are required to have regular and consistent supervision from both a Faculty Supervisor (Program Clinical Supervisor) and a local Site Supervisor throughout the internship experience. The Site Supervisor serves as the Clinician of Record and has primary oversight of and legal responsibility for the student therapist's clinical work at the Site. The Faculty Supervisor is responsible for supporting the student's overall development as a systemic/relational therapist, maintaining primary focus on the program's goals and learning outcomes. Collectively, the student therapist's supervision experiences during internship must meet both COAMFTE standards and the state licensing requirements for graduate clinical training in the

state where the student is practicing. Faculty Supervision will meet COAMFTE requirements, while Site Supervision must meet state-specific supervision requirements. While the Faculty Supervision (i.e., Program Clinical Supervision) may also meet state licensure requirements, there may be cases where only Site Supervision may count toward state requirements for graduate clinical training, particularly if face-to-face supervision (i.e., not telesupervision) or individual supervision (versus group supervision) is required for licensure purposes.

# **Qualifications for Site Supervisors**

Site Supervisors of AUNE CFT MA students are expected to have training, experience, and demonstrated abilities as couple and family therapists and as clinical supervisors (trainers) of couple and family therapists and systems-based models of therapy. To qualify as a Site Supervisor, an individual must meet one or more of the following criteria:

- Be an AAMFT Approved Supervisor or Supervisor Candidate;
- Have the state C/MFT supervisor designation or meet post-graduate state LMFT supervisor standards; or
- Be approved as an Equivalent by the AUNE CFT Director of Clinical Training according to the program's Definition of Supervisor Equivalency, which reflects the COAMFTE version 12.5 standards for program clinical supervisors.

Supervision with the Site Supervisor will **not be counted** toward the 100 hours of COAMFTE required supervision, however, the program requires weekly site supervision and will require students to complete site supervision as dictated by graduate clinical training requirements for the student's intended state of licensure.

It is the position of the CFT MA program that student therapists are best served by having a Site Supervisor who has a professional identity as a couple and family therapist, as well as training in providing relational/systemic supervision, and the program will support students in obtaining such Site Supervision wherever possible. If a student plans to practice in a state that outlines more stringent requirements than those held by the program, the program will uphold the more stringent state standards. The student should know their state's requirements and work with the CFT DCT to ensure the supervisor and internship meet these requirements.

# Program Definition of Supervisor Equivalency

When an AAMFT Approved Supervisor, AAMFT Approved Supervisor Candidate, or state-designated supervisor is not available, the CFT Director of Clinical Training can approve a Supervisor Equivalent according to the following criteria:

- 1) Has sufficient experience as a clinician, as evidenced by
  - a) A graduate degree in couple/marriage and family therapy or related mental health discipline,
  - b) An independent license in a mental health profession in the state or province where the student will be practicing, *and*
  - c) At least two years of full-time clinical experience post-licensure
- 2) Has educational or practical experience indicating relational/systemic professional orientation, as evidenced by one or more of the following:
  - a) Having **taken or taught** five or more graduate courses in couple/marital and family therapy, either during or after the mental health professional degree used to qualify for licensure

- b) Membership in a relationally-focused professional association dedicated to promoting the marriage and family therapy profession
- c) Advanced credentials in a practice area specific to the marriage and family therapy profession,
- d) Contributions specific to the marriage and family therapy profession such as leadership, training, or scholarly activities.
- e)
- 3) Has training in relational/systemic supervision, as evidence by either
  - a) A graduate course in MFT relational/systemic supervision equivalent to three semester-credit hours, or
  - b) Postgraduate professional education in MFT relational/systemic supervision of at least 30 clock hours (includes the 30-hour full AAMFT Approved Supervisor Training Course

Following a review of supervisor credentials by the Director of Clinical Training, supervisors will be asked to complete the Qualified to Supervise form, documenting how the criteria outlined above have been met. Please note that being approved as a Supervisor Equivalent for the AUNE CFT program has nothing to do with the American Association for Marriage and Family Therapy or its Approved Supervisor designation. All applications for AAMFT membership can only be done through the AAMFT.

Site Supervisor Qualifications Documentation

The AUNE CFT Director of Clinical Training is responsible for obtaining adequate documentation to verify that all site supervisors meet requirements outlined above, and to keep up-to-date clinical training site files that will meet the program's documentation requirements for the Site Supervisor.

This documentation <u>must</u> include a current resume or curriculum vitae that documents the Clinician's/Supervisor's:

(1) clinical degree and date conferred;

(2) license and dates conferred and status;

(3) CFT training (CFT degree/license or AAMFT Clinical membership letter from AAMFT or courses and continuing education workshops in CFT that were taken if no none of the former apply—transcripts can substitute but are not required);

(4) years providing CFT;

(5) years providing supervision of CFTs; and

(6) CFT supervision training and dates.

#### Site Supervisor Responsibilities

The Site Supervisor (Clinician of Record) provides an integral part of the student's training, guiding the student's clinical activities "on the ground." The Site Supervisor monitors, evaluates, and provides appropriate feedback to influence the student's professional growth as a therapist. The program approved Site Supervisor provides regular evaluations of the student's clinical performance, carried out in Supervision Assist, and informs the Faculty Supervisor's grades at the semester's end of each Internship semester.

Specific responsibilities of the Site Supervisor consist of:

- Prior to the start of the student's internship, the Site Supervisor signs the internship Affiliation Agreement contracts and the Electronic Placement Application (in Supervision Assist) on behalf of the agency. The student attests that they have collaborated with the Site Supervisor to complete the Electronic Placement Application in Supervision Assist.
- In collaboration with the student therapist, complete updated Supervision Contracts each semester of clinical training.
- As the Clinician of Record, Site Supervisors are responsible for providing oversight of all cases and must be available for emergency situations that arise while the student is providing therapy. The Site Supervisor will be administratively and clinically responsible for student training at the placement site.
- For purposes of reporting to authorities, **all** parties are considered mandated reporters. Students should consult with the Site Supervisor verbally (not by email) regarding mandated reporting situations and documentation of this consultation should be kept in supervision records, in addition to documentation in client files.
- We strongly recommend that supervisors keep a record of the supervision provided to interns in the form of confidential supervision notes (for examples of forms to use, see Dwyer, 1997 or AAMFT, 1991). Supervision notes can also be added to a student's SA file.
- Effective supervision entails mentoring someone who is newer in the field than the supervisor. It is expected that Site Supervisors will allow and encourage a student's exploration of appropriate theoretical and clinical models of couple and family therapy, even if the orientation differs from that of the supervisor.
- The Site Supervisor should meet weekly with the student therapist for individual or dyadic supervision (i.e., either with the student only or with the student and one other supervisee). Weekly individual supervision should be carried out in the modality required by state requirements for graduate training clinical supervision.E.g., students in some states may only have face-to-face, in the same room supervision, while in other states telesupervision may be allowed.
- Supervision, with either the Site Supervisor or Faculty Supervisor, is required every week that the student is seeing clients. See below regarding <u>Plan for Ensuring Regular and</u> <u>Consistent Supervision of Student Therapists Throughout Internship</u>.
- Student observation of the supervisor's clinical work does not necessarily constitute individual supervision. Co-therapy supervision must include supervisory debriefings about the session. Multiple students serving as clinicians behind the one-way mirror may receive credit for group supervision provided that (1) at least one supervisor is present, (2) there are no more than six supervisees present, and (3) the supervisory experience involves an interactional process between or among the students, the treatment team, and the supervisor.
- Site Supervisors are encouraged to incorporate regular observation-based supervision (supervision based on reviewing student sessions, either live or by recording. The AUNE CFT program believes that it is essential for therapists to become adept at watching recordings of themselves and making evaluations of and adjustments to their professional work as needed. This not only provides a more thorough basis for self-supervision but also enables a therapist to more accurately use supervision from faculty.
- The student is responsible for tracking their own clinical and supervision hours. The Clinician
  of Record/Site Supervisor will review and sign off on the clinical and supervision hours
  in Supervision Assist at least monthly and ideally more often.
- The Site Supervisor (Clinician of Record) and AUNE Faculty Supervisor form a *supervision team* in which they communicate regularly each semester, at designated intervals during

evaluation periods, throughout the student's clinical development. The Site Supervisor and AUNE Faculty Supervisor are expected to communicate about the student's goals and clinical development. The Faculty Supervisor will initiate communication with the Site Supervisor at least once each semester to discuss the student's progress.

- The Site Supervisor, AUNE Faculty supervisor, and CFT Director of Clinical Training agree to collaborate in a prompt and professional manner if there are any concerns about the student or their competence to work with clients. In the event of any problems that occur with the student, the Site Supervisor is expected to first contact the AUNE Faculty Supervisor. The Site Supervisor and the AUNE Faculty Supervisor should work together and with the student to devise a written remediation plan (a copy should be given to the CFT DCT to be placed in the student's AP file). If needed, the CFT DCT will construct a draft remediation plan. Upon dialogue, either supervisor may contact the CFT DCT to discuss concerns or provide an update of a student's progress.
- Site Supervisors complete a dispositional assessment during the first semester, as well as clinical skills evaluations evaluations of the student two times per semester. Although the Faculty Supervisor assigns grades for the internship courses, these internship course grades will be based on Site Supervisor evaluations. As part of the evaluation process, Site Supervisors are also invited to provide program-level feedback as well. See <u>Appendix B</u> for Evaluation Schedule.

# Evaluation and Professional Gatekeeping Responsibilities of the Site Supervisor

Prior to licensure, CFT supervisors have the responsibility of judging whether a therapist's work meets the basic ethical and clinical standards of the profession. Supervision with beginning therapists must create an environment in which the student can try new things, make mistakes, and grow as a new professional. The AUNE CFT program uses the Antioch Skills Evaluation Device (ASkED) each semester in order to help supervisors and students reflect upon and evaluate a student's skills throughout these beginning stages of development. It is the goal of the program that each student will be successful in meeting these basic skill levels. During the first semester (Internship I), the Site and AUNE Faculty Supervisors will also complete a dispositional assessment. The dispositional assessment process is designed to identify opportunities to provide feedback to students on exhibited character, attitudes, attributes, and behavior as they advance toward becoming a competent couple & family therapist. This process is meant to aid students' development of the essential skills of taking in feedback, self-reflecting, and continuously evaluating and positively modifying their own behavior. If a student is not performing at a basic level of competence, as determined by the ASkED and the Dispositional Assessment, it is a supervisor's ethical responsibility to hold the student therapist accountable. The function of gatekeeping is threefold: professional integrity (supervisor and therapist), protection of the profession, and protection of the public.

The Site Supervisor will use the **Field Supervisor/Mentor Evaluation of Student** (in SA) and follow AUNE's evaluative descriptors for Internship at the end of each semester (see Appendix C). It is expected that all evaluations will be verbally discussed between the supervisor and student therapist. By doing this informally mid-semester and then formally at the end of every semester, the student and supervisor have the opportunity to recalibrate learning expectations and goals to achieve the best possible learning outcomes. Students are warned if they are not meeting a supervisor's standards and rewarded if they are meeting those standards. Supervisors are protected by a written record of the mid-semester warning if the student needs to improve in order to earn credit for the semester of internship. The goal is to provide open and clear communication and achieve the best training for the student.

# Plan for Ensuring Regular and Consistent Supervision of Student Therapists Throughout Internship

Regular and consistent clinical supervision of student therapists is an ethical and legal necessity and is required by COAMFTE standards and by state and provincial licensing regulations. Throughout the internship experience, the program requires that clinical students engage in weekly supervision with **both** the Site Supervisor and the Faculty Supervisor, with minimal interruptions and only interrupted in cases where specific plans are in place to ensure students have access to supervisory support. Program Clinical Supervision (i.e., Faculty Supervision) is provided weekly throughout the year, other than during the AUNE winter break, when students are not expected to be at their clinical placement. During the weeks that students do not have supervision scheduled with their Faculty Supervisor, the student must meet with the Site Supervisor, or should not see clients that week. During any planned absences during the semester, Faculty Supervisors will identify an alternate Program Clinical Supervisor to cover the weekly supervision group.

Given the role of the Site Supervisor as the Clinician of Record, the Site Supervisor is expected to meet with the student weekly with limited exceptions, defined as missing no more than a week at a time and not more frequently than 2-3 times per 15-week semester); in the event that weekly site supervision cannot take place, the Site Supervisor must be available to assist the student with questions, particularly in urgent matters, or must designate a qualified alternate sources of onsite supervisory support. When planning for absences, the Site Supervisor, as the Clinician of Record, is responsible for continuously adhering to state or provincial regulations regarding the supervision of student therapists. Additionally, in a week that Site Supervision will not take place, the student must have Faculty Supervision or not see clients that week. If the Site Supervisor is on vacation and the Faculty Supervision must occur for each week that the student has direct contact with clients.

The student must receive supervision in the same week they see clients, **or their hours may not count for that week**. If no supervision is available, a student therapist should not see clients, as it is unethical and potentially dangerous for the clients and the student therapist. The student may not earn therapy hours without supervision, nor may they "load-up" on supervision at the beginning or the end of internship.

#### AUNE CFT MA Program and Faculty Supervisor Responsibilities

Couple and Family Therapy Clinical Training Team

The Couple and Family Therapy Clinical Training Team coordinates all student placements at clinical experience sites. The CFT Clinical Training Team identifies, evaluates, and reviews appropriate placement sites and supervisors, maintains Supervision Assist files on placement sites and site supervisors, and makes the final review of student evaluations of sites and supervisors. The CFT Director of Clinical Training (DCT) informs students of clinical training requirements via this handbook and acts as a liaison between students, supervisors, sites, and CFT faculty. Prior to signing the Affiliation Agreement, the CFT DCT ensures the site and supervisors meet and maintain the criteria for entering into the contractual agreement.

The CFT DCT plans and facilitates any supervisor trainings, and plans and oversees all Supervisor Training Courses given by the AUNE CFT program including the AAMFT Approved Supervisor Course. The DCT collaborates with the Department's Director of Continuing Education to ensure all CEU and AAMFT regulations are followed and appropriate clinicians are invited.

#### Faculty Review of Students

The CFT Core Faculty are responsible for the mentorship and professional development of the students and are responsible as gatekeepers to the profession in accordance with the AAMFT Code of Ethics and current standards of the profession of Couple and Family Therapy.

# Prior to Clinical Experience: Year One Progress Review

As part of the advising process, the CFT Core Faculty will conduct a Progress Review of each CFT student during their first year of the CFT program in order to determine whether they have met the program's curricular requirements and are eligible to move onto the second year of the program. The process consists of a review of each student's first semester academic performance, as well as a review of their dispositional preparedness for moving into clinical training.

Possible outcomes:

- Student is admitted into the second year of the program and can begin internship
- Student is put on a remediation plan prior to being allowed to begin internship
- Student is denied admission into the second year of the program and referred for further advising to determine appropriate career alternatives

# Throughout Clinical Experience: Evaluation for Continuation in Program

The CFT Core Faculty will meet with and review a student's progress if a student requests a second extension in a course, receives an S grade for an overall course evaluation, or receives a No Credit for any course. The CFT Core Faculty will initiate, and place in writing, an action plan intended to enable the student to succeed with further clinical and coursework. This document will be signed by the student and the student's CFT Faculty Advisor, and be placed in the student's departmental file. If such a course of action is either deemed inappropriate or has already been tried and found to be inadequate, the CFT Core Faculty will determine whether the student should be placed on a leave of absence, advised to leave the program, or terminated from the program.

Program Clinical Supervision and Faculty Supervisor Responsibilities

While engaged in the internship experience, all students participate in weekly program clinical supervision with AUNE clinical faculty as part of the five Internship courses. Each faculty supervision section consists of six or fewer graduate student therapists and one faculty member, the AUNE program clinical supervisor or Faculty Supervisor. All AUNE Faculty Supervisors are professionals who demonstrate a professional identity as relational/systemic therapist and who are AAMFT Approved Supervisors or Approved Supervisor Candidates, meeting COAMFTE version 12.5 standards for Program Clinical Supervisors. The internship class meets weekly for 2-3 hours during the fall, spring, and summer semesters. The internship courses are designed to provide weekly group clinical supervision that incorporates observable data supervision (i.e., client recordings) of students' clinical work at their internship sites. It is not an expectation that students' entire caseloads will be reviewed in faculty supervision; oversight of each students' entire caseload is the responsibility of the placement's Site Supervisor.

Because students in clinical training are required to engage in weekly individual or dyadic supervision with their Site Supervisor, the AUNE Faculty Supervisor provides mainly group supervision, with six students or fewer in each group. In some cases, individual supervision, as needed for state licensure, can also be arranged with the AUNE Faculty Supervisor.

The AUNE Faculty Supervisor: (1) guides the academic work of the student as they formulate a personal philosophy of therapy and apply a chosen theoretical perspective to clinical cases, building toward the capstone project; (2) guides the clinical work of the student in selected cases, through case consultation and video supervision; and (3) assesses and evaluates academic and clinical development through the Internship sequence.

An AUNE Faculty Supervisor will usually mentor the same group of students for two to three semesters. During the second year of the internship, the focus is expanded to include self-of-the-therapist and developing one's own systems-informed theory of change. Students present a capstone presentation (i.e., a final video case presentation) during the final semester of internship.

The AUNE Faculty Supervisors are in charge of running their own sections and working collaboratively with the CFT DCT who is responsible for the syllabus. The AUNE Faculty Supervisor is responsible for reviewing students' monthly reporting logs of client contact and supervision hours from students. As part of their oversight of students' clinical tracking, Faculty Supervisors are responsible for advising students about the pace of their hours completion and for communicating with the CFT DCT and faculty advisor about a student's overall program completion.

It is the function of the AUNE Faculty Supervisor to serve as a liaison with the Clinician of Record/Site Supervisor to ensure the thorough and ethical clinical training of students. The AUNE Faculty Supervisor is responsible for facilitating the discussion of issues involving all aspects of student placements and integrating these with academic work. The AUNE Faculty Supervisor is the first contact for the internship Site Supervisor, if there are training needs to be addressed, so as to best ensure cohesive training between AUNE and the clinical placement. Should questions, problems, or need for additional support arise, the Faculty Supervisor should contact the CFT DCT.

# Faculty Supervisor Evaluations of the Student

During all five semesters of internship, the AUNE Faculty Supervisors complete the Antioch Skills Evaluation Device (ASkED), review the semester Supervision Contract (which affirms each student's learning goals), and review Site Supervisor evaluations at the appropriate times throughout the semester.

The AUNE Faculty Supervisor regularly evaluates students through weekly case presentations and discussions, and through middle and end of semester evaluation. Students are formally evaluated upon completion of each of the five semesters of Internship. See <u>Concerns About Student</u> <u>Performance</u> for more information about cases where Faculty Supervisor evaluations note concerns about a student's performance.

# Faculty Supervisor Monitoring of Student Progress

Students who do not satisfactorily complete all clinical and site requirements will receive "No Credit" and must repeat the semester of clinical internship, if permitted, in order to earn credit. For example, clinical requirements (e.g., attending meetings, showing up for sessions on time, following

supervisory directives, adhering to expectations for participation in virtual supervision) and clinical documentation not completed on time or in an ethical manner may result in a "no credit." An inability to submit items on time will be reflected in the final Internship grade and may result in Clinical Probation. In the unusual circumstance where a grade cannot be assigned at the end of the final term (e.g., due to prolonged student or supervisor illness), the student receives an "In Progress", as per the *Antioch University New England academic rules*. If a student cannot complete clinical course requirements by the end of the semester, a student can apply with the Registrar's Office (by the deadline) for a course second extension which must be signed by the AUNE Faculty Supervisor or the CFT DCT. (This means that an AUNE faculty must give permission to extend a field placement's time. This permission is not to be expected automatically.)

The best way to resolve difficulties that may arise is for the issue to be worked out between the student and the field placement site. The student's AUNE Faculty Supervisor can also be used as a resource. Should any problems arise which involve or affect Antioch University New England, Dr. Jinsook Song, CFT Director of Clinical Training, is the person to contact. Phone: 703-407-2347 and email: jsong@antioch.edu.

**Note**: Incomplete clinical documentation or ongoing clinical concerns of a student may result in Clinical Probation of the student. It is the AUNE Faculty Supervisor's responsibility to bring these student concerns to the AUNE clinical faculty meeting or to consult directly with the CFT DCT. <u>Two course extensions</u>, two grades of "S" or worse, or one "no credit" course will result in a core CFT faculty review of the student's academic progress.

### **Student Clinical Training Responsibilities**

Considerations for Planning Internship: Student Responsibilities to Site

- The student is expected to meet the expectations that a given site has for its students. These expectations may go beyond the requirements of the AUNE CFT MA program. For example, a site might require doing more clock hours than the program requires, being onsite on specific days, or attending specific staff meetings or trainings.
- Throughout Internship, students will be enrolled in Internship courses that include weekly two-hour group supervision meetings. The Antioch group supervision meetings for Internship courses will take place outside of the normal time slots allocated to synchronous meetings for didactic courses.
- The student will provide clinical services according to their site's schedule, not AUNE's CFT academic term schedules. For example, you will most likely be obligated to the field experience site during AUNE's spring break. The exception to this is AUNE's winter break. Students are not expected to be at their clinical placement sites during AUNE's winter break, which goes from the last day of the Fall semester until the first day of the Spring semester as designated on AUNE's Academic Calendar. Please note that spring classes may begin after the first day of the spring semester as listed on AUNE's Academic Calendar. Students are expected to resume their clinical experience on the first day of the semester according to AUNE's Academic Calendar.
- Students who choose to maintain a presence at their site during the winter break must understand and adhere to the program's Policy for Regular and Consistent Supervision (described above) as well as the following: (a) the student at this time is not covered underneath AUNE's liability insurance, (b) the student is not underneath supervision, oversight,

or responsibility of AUNE during this time, (c) all concerns, issues, and/or problems that arise must be addressed by the site and are not the liability of AUNE, (d) the student should be considered a volunteer as defined by the specific agency during this time, and (e) the student must be certain that the Site Supervisor understands each of the above implications.

- Students are expected to fulfill the expectations of the placement site, unless those expectations are in direct conflict with the AAMFT Code of Ethics or with the Affiliation Agreement (for example, the site is treating the student as staff). The student will need to maintain openness to feedback from supervisors and peers.
- The student is expected to commit to a clinical placement site for the entire internship experience timeframe, unless there are specific arrangements for the student to spend only their first year of internship at a given site...
- Students must be prepared to honor site requirements and policies regarding criminal background checks, medical or drug testing, immunizations, and health and safety measures. It is the responsibility of students, not the program or Antioch University, to carry out any required background checks or medical screening and/or reporting of such screening to the site. Students are encouraged to ask questions about any policies and requirements that they will be expected to follow when they are interviewing with potential sites.
- The student will conduct therapy in ways that are therapeutically adept, and ethically and legally appropriate. This is also with the understanding that this is a learning experience and all of the student's work should be understood as learning experiences. The student is not to be treated as an employee, nor held to this standard.
- The student agrees to work in strict adherence to the AAMFT Code of Ethics, as well as site policies and practices, and comply with all HIPAA (Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act), JCAHO (The Joint Commission for the Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations) or other larger system policies. Failure to comply with directives of the placement Site Supervisor (e.g., how to work with a potentially suicidal client) may be a basis for suspension or termination from the placement site and/or the CFT program.
- Students are to present themselves, and be represented by their sites, as CFT therapists-in-training, accurately representing their role as student therapists.

Student Responsibilities While Preparing for Internship

- Complete Year One Progress Review and Gain Permission to Contact Internship Placement Sites. Before beginning the process of looking for and/or securing an internship site, students must be in good standing in the CFT program, having received satisfactory evaluations for their classes and successfully completed the Year One Progress Review. If a remediation plan has been put into effect, the student must have addressed and fully completed the tasks specified before starting the internship application process.
- **Register for Supervision Assist.** During the pre-internship Clinical Skills course, students will be expected to register for and pay for a Supervision Assist (SA) account and attend an introductory training. SA includes a directory of placement sites with which the university has worked previously.
- Confirm Geographical Location for Internship and Your Intended State of Licensure. While the core requirements of the clinical training experience (Internship courses, weekly Faculty and Site Supervision) is the same for all CFT MA students, there are state-by-state differences that have important implications for certain aspects of the internship experience, including but not limited to: requirements for how Site Supervision is conducted, whether

student therapists can engage in tele-therapy, and whether Alternative Contact Hours are accepted by the state. During the pre-internship Clinical Skills course, students will confirm where they plan to complete clinical training and research the location-specific stipulations for graduate student clinical training. The program is responsible for ensuring that students complete, at a minimum, *program* requirements. It is the responsibility of students to ensure that they understand and adhere to additional requirements of their state. Once students begin Internship, the Site Supervisor also shares in the responsibility to ensure adherence to state-specific requirements.

- Participate in Advising on Placement Search. Students are encouraged to have a meeting
  with their academic advisor to discuss the internship experience and begin to identify possible
  placement sites. If a student resides in an area without previously used sites, the Director of
  CFT Clinical Training will work with the student to find potential sites that meet CFT program
  requirements; this may involve the CFT faculty or the DCT and student contacting AAMFT
  clinical members and approved supervisors and licensed couple and family therapists who
  work in the area in which the student lives to inquire about potential placements. The student is
  also encouraged to identify and contact local agencies of interest.
- Seek Program Approval of Prospective Site. For potential placement sites that are new to
  the university, there will need to be an Agreement of Affiliation established. For all sites, new or
  ongoing, there must be a current Affiliation Agreement in place between the Site and the
  program. Once a student has identified a possible field placement site, the Director of CFT
  Clinical Training will make sure all program and COAMFTE facility requirements are met and
  complete an Agreement of Affiliation with the Clinician of Record/Site Supervisor. The program
  requires Affiliation Agreements when a new site is identified and every five years thereafter, as
  long as the site hosts an AUNE CFT student therapist.
- Secure Placement Site. Once viable sites are identified and initially approved by the Director of Clinical Training, the student should contact sites in which they are interested and set up an interview with the agency's internship director/coordinator. The student should provide this person with a copy of their résumé, on which it should state that they are a master's student in the AUNE Couple and Family Therapy program, in addition to list other education, prior work history, and relevant life experience. CFT faculty advisors are happy to review résumés and make suggestions for preparing for interviews. These interviews are formal, professional interviews and students should dress appropriately and call people by their last names and titles. Students should plan to arrive 5 minutes before the interview is scheduled (not much more). Students should learn about the site by visiting the site's webpage prior to the interview, and be prepared with two or three informed questions about their role as a student clinician and the site's methods of training. Because the student must interview and successfully obtain the internship placement, the <u>student</u> is responsible for securing their site.
- Complete the Placement Application and Supervision Contract. Once a student has been offered and accepted a clinical placement, the student and Site Supervisor collaborate to complete the Placement Application in Supervision Assist. The student is in charge of initiating and completing these forms in SA and should be actively involved in establishing their learning and supervision goals. The Site Supervisor will sign the Application and the student will attest that they agree with the contents of the agreement. Part of the form includes a Site Supervisor Contract that is to be developed collaboratively between the student and the Site Supervisor.

This Supervision Contract will be updated each semester in SA. The AUNE Faculty Supervisor may also wish to develop a Supervision Contract with the student.

 \*\*\*In order to start Internship I, students must complete ALL required documentation no later than the add/drop deadline for the semester when Internship I is scheduled. Only with Director of Clinical Training Approval may students start Internship I without having secured a placement and completed all required documentation. While Internship I typically takes place in the fall semester, students who want to start internship early (i.e., in the summer) may request DCT permission to do so. Students planning to start internship in the summer must complete all required placement documentation at least two weeks prior to the start of the summer term.\*\*\*

Student Responsibilities During Internship

- Begin Internship I, Starting Faculty Supervision and Site Supervision. Beginning internship involves beginning to attend weekly group supervision with Program Faculty (AUNE supervision or faculty supervision), as well as beginning working at the placement and meeting weekly with the Site Supervisor. The expectation during year 1 of clinical training is that the experience is part-time (6-10 hours per week at the site), providing the opportunity for getting acclimated to doing therapy. The Supervisor Contract and Student Contract, completed in Supervision Assist, provide the opportunity to set goals and expectations for clinical work.
- Record Clinical and Supervision Hours in Supervision Assist. Client contact and supervision hours are to be recorded by the student in Supervision Assist, and require the electronic approval of the Site Supervisor and AUNE Faculty Supervisor. Approval of the hours means the Site Supervisor is documenting the student has completed all of the clinical hours in an appropriate and professional manner, including all required documentation, including case notes for the clients associated with these hours. The AUNE Faculty Supervisor's will review hours logs to ensure requirements for regular and consistent supervision have been met, and to ensure that the students are providing live or recorded therapy sessions for the supervisors to review. The AUNE Faculty Supervisor should routinely verify this with the site's approved supervisor. Although it is best practice to log supervision and clinical hours daily, all clinical and supervision hours logs should be completed and signed at the end of each month. Students are responsible for keeping track of their hours.
- Actively Pursue Observable Data Supervision. Students should regularly record client sessions, with client consent, using Supervision Assist and share recordings in both Faculty Supervision and Site Supervision. Observable Data Supervision involves direct observation of therapy as it is happening, either through use of recordings or through live observation. Supervision based on Observable Data must compose at least 50 hours of the 100 hours of *Faculty Supervision*.
- **Complete Mid-and End of Semester Evaluations.** Students will be evaluated at various points during their placements. Consistently evaluations will occur at two points each semester: mid and end. The Antioch Skills Evaluation Device (ASkED) will be completed midway through each semester by the student and their Site Supervisor. Site Supervisors, Faculty Supervisors, and the student will complete an ASkED at the end of each semester. Students will be engaged in conversation with supervisors about feedback as a growth

opportunity. Site Supervisors will also complete the Field Supervisor/Mentor Evaluation of Student at the end of each semester. Students complete evaluations of both the Site and Faculty supervisors at the <u>end</u> of each semester. They will also complete an Evaluation of the Site at the end of the placement (i.e., as they are leaving their site).

- **Complete Supervisor Evaluations.** At the end of each semester, the student will evaluate their Site Supervisor and AUNE Faculty Supervisor using the Evaluation of Supervisor/Mentor form (in Supervision Assist), and the placement site using the Field Experience Site Evaluation (in Supervision Assist).
- Preparing to Complete Clinical Training During Final Semester. In consultation with their Faculty Supervisor, students should monitor their clinical hours progress *throughout* their clinical training. Particularly as they near the final semester of internship, students should remain in communication with the Faculty Supervisor, the Director of Clinical Training, and Faculty Advisor about their remaining hours and their timeline for finishing their clinical requirements. (See also information on Incomplete Clinical Hours and Need for Continuation.)
- Complete Capstone Project: Student Theory of Therapy Papers and Capstone Presentation. A final Theory of Therapy paper and Case Presentation are required in the final semester of Internship. Students will find more details below and within their Internship syllabi. See further information about <u>Capstone Requirement</u>.
- Ending Therapy Work Ethically. Ending at a placement site involves consideration of client wellbeing and the student therapist's ethical responsibility not to abandon clients. As part of concluding at a site, students must consult with their Site Supervisors about appropriate plans for terminating therapy and/or transitioning clients to other clinicians.

Considerations for Conclusion of Clinical Training

# Preparing the Capstone Presentation and Final Theory of Therapy Paper

The Capstone Presentation and Final Theory of Therapy Paper are both completed during Internship V. The Capstone Presentation takes place toward the end of Internship V. The final Theory of Therapy paper is due to the Faculty Supervisor two weeks before the scheduled presentation.

In the Capstone presentation, the student will describe and demonstrate their clinical knowledge and skill. The Capstone Presentation uses recent video recordings (preferably *not audio only*) of the student therapist's work with clients. The Capstone Presentation, and particularly the session recordings, complement the Theory of Therapy paper.

Students will write a first draft of the Theory of Therapy paper in Internship IV; these papers are typically 10-12 pages. The final Theory of Therapy Paper and Capstone Presentation will build on and be an application of the Theory of Therapy paper submitted at the end of Internship IV.

The final Theory of Therapy paper will include information about the student's overall work as a therapist, as well as case specific information (a genogram, history of the case, presenting problem, joining, agreed upon therapeutic goals, working through issues, therapeutic formulation and techniques used). Students presenting the Capstone Presentation and Theory of Therapy are not

expected to be flawless clinicians, but rather the presentation needs to be a snapshot of where the student is at this point of their training, showing how they understand conceptually the therapeutic process and MFT models, with emphasis on application of those concepts in a case or cases. It should pay attention to "use of self as therapist." Students are directed to the <u>Program Goals and</u> <u>Student Learning Outcomes</u> to help them envision what the Capstone project should demonstrate about their work as they end the program.

The video included in the Capstone Presentation needs to include about 10 minutes of interaction between the student and the client that, in as many ways as possible, illustrates points made in the final Theory of Therapy paper. When presenting, students should have their video clips cued up and ready to share. The video can be several clips that show differing techniques. The Capstone Presentation will take place in the faculty-led supervision group and thus will involve the same confidentiality protections as other supervision. Nonetheless, students might consider getting additional permission from clients to share video/audio recordings for this occasion.

The format of the Capstone presentation will be:

- 1) Introduction (highlighting the points made in the paper, tying the case into one's Theory of Therapy, and putting in context the recorded session clip(s)), about 20 minutes;
- 2) Showing the video, about 10 minutes,
- 3) Discussion, with questions and observations. about 20 minutes.

# Incomplete Clinical Hours and Need for Internship Continuation

When internship requirements are not completed within the typical five-course sequence of internship, a <u>continuation of internship</u> may be negotiated between the agency, student, supervisor, CFT DCT, and the CFT Program Director. If an internship continuation is needed beyond the summer term, the student may have to pay tuition for the fall term. It is vital that the continuation be filed so that the student has continuous liability coverage through AUNE. In the case of a continuation, an incomplete grade will be filed for Internship V until the student has completed clinical hours. The Capstone Presentation and final Theory of Therapy Paper will be completed during Internship V, regardless of a student's need for continuation.

# Completing Internship Early

The five-semester internship experience is designed to allow students to mature as clinicians. Skill development results not only from accumulating hours of experience but also from the passage of time. Students are encouraged to pace their clinical hours across the five semesters of internship.

If the student completes their hours early *during their last* Internship semester, they must complete the requirements for the Internship course in which they are enrolled. In this instance, students may apply to the site and the DCT in writing for early release from the internship contract. The site, and the DCT, in collaboration with the CFT MA Program Director, must ALL agree to allow the student to do this. Due to the client needs at the site or other obligations (supervisor hour needs, grant funding obligations, etc.), the student might not be given permission to end internship early.

In rare cases, students may accumulate hours at a pace that would allow them to complete clinical requirements a full semester early. Only students whose internship extends beyond the end of all other course requirements may request shortening their internship by a semester (and only by one

semester). Students wanting to request ending internship a semester early, must meet the following criteria:

- 1. Shortening the internship by one semester will not interfere with meeting state educational requirements for licensure.
- 2. At least half of the clinical hours requirements must be met by the end of Internship II, including half of the clock hours, half of the direct clinical contact hours, and half of the relational hours.
- 3. The student has enough supervision hours completed to be able to finish supervision requirements at the end of clinical training without needing to increase the pace of supervision
- 4. Students have written recommendation letters from their site and faculty supervisors, supporting their proposal to complete internship one semester early.
- 5. There are no incomplete courses and the student is in good standing with the program

Requests to complete internship a semester early must be submitted in writing to the Director of Clinical Training during Internship II. Requests will be evaluated as the student concludes Internship II. Students approved to shorten internship by a semester will be given permission to wave Internship III and will need to take an appropriate didactic course in order to meet the credit hour requirements for the program. Students ending internship one semester early will still complete 61 credits total in the program and will still complete Internship courses IV and V, including the Capstone.

# Clinical Considerations for Ending Internship

Well in advance of the end of their internship, students should work with their Site Supervisors and Faculty Supervisors to prepare for concluding therapy ethically and effectively. In addition to managing termination or transfer of cases, students are responsible for completing documentation, including clinical records and program documentation (clinical hours, evaluations, etc.).

# Preparing for Licensure Applications

Students completing the program are encouraged to compile thorough records of their coursework and clinical training experience to support their future application for licensure. While there are wide variations in what licensing boards will request as part of the application for licensure, program graduates will benefit from having the following in their personal files:

- A copy of their transcript (available upon degree conferral)
- Digital copies of syllabi from every course the student completed in their program, including the internship courses
- Digital summaries of the clinical hours records from Supervision Assist. Students retain lifetime access to Supervision Assist, however, it is wise to also save a record containing the following information:
  - The total number of direct contact hours
  - The total number of couple and family (relational) contact hours
  - A separate total of any alternative contact hours
  - The total number of supervision hours
  - Total number of individual supervision hours
  - Total supervision hours provided by the Antioch Faculty Supervisors
  - Total supervision hours provided be the Site Supervisor(s)
- Names and credentials of *each* supervisor (their license and whether they are an AAMFT Approved or State Approved Supervisor)
- A digital copy of the Program Guide and Clinical Training Handbook

# Policy for Managing Difficulties with Sites, Site Supervisors, and Students

# Remediation Plans and Changing Sites Due to Problems With a Site or Site Supervisor

On occasion, problems arise with an internship site, either because of factors with the site or Site Supervisor, the student, or sometimes with a combination. When problems arise, all parties are responsible for alerting the program of the concerns. Site and Site Supervisor responsibilities include informing the program concerns about a student's performance, interruptions to the provision of Site Supervision, or other factors significantly affecting the student's training. The student will notify the AUNE Faculty Supervisor and the Director of Clinical Training of the problem(s) with the site and/or Site Supervisor. If the difficulty cannot be resolved with the help of the AUNE Faculty Supervisor, the CFT DCT will arrange a meeting with the Site Supervisor or a site representative to develop a course of action acceptable to all parties.

Each placement site must have a grievance policy and procedure and give a copy of this to the student during orientation. If the student feels the need to file a grievance at the placement, they should tell the AUNE Faculty Supervisor so as to keep faculty informed. If, after following this procedure the student does not feel satisfied, they should talk with the AUNE Faculty Supervisor and the supervisor will contact the site. The AUNE Faculty Supervisor will ask the CFT DCT to become involved as needed.

In exceptional circumstances, it may be necessary for the student to pursue a different placement. If the Antioch core CFT faculty decide that this is the most appropriate action, the CFT program will assist the student's search. If a student wishes to leave a site for ANY reason, they will give written notice to the CFT DCT, the AUNE Faculty Supervisor, and the Site Supervisor as soon as possible so that the client documentation and load can be ethically concluded and transferred and positive relations can be maintained between the site and the AUNE CFT program. The preferred length of notice is 30 days, as stated in the Agreement to Affiliate contract between the placement site and the AUNE CFT program.

If the situation is due to a student not completing requirements that the CFT DCT, AUNE Faculty Supervisor, and Site Supervisor all deem appropriate, a student remediation plan will be constructed under the lead of the CFT DCT in collaboration with the AUNE Faculty Supervisor, the student's Academic Advisor, and the Site Supervisor. All remediation plans must be agreed upon by the CFT DCT, AUNE Faculty Supervisor, the student's Academic Advisor, and Site Supervisor. All remediation plans will have clear and measurable goals so that all parties, including the student, know when goals have been met, whether they are student goals, supervision goals, or site goals. If a remediation plan is implemented, the student will participate and follow through with all stipulations and requirements or risk being expelled from the CFT program. In accordance with COAMFTE regulations, the core CFT faculty have sole authority to determine a student's status, standing, acceptance, and progress in the CFT program.

Leaving a Site Early and Interruptions to Internship

In the event that a student is considering leaving a placement site early, the student and Faculty Supervisor should notify and consult with the Director of Clinical Training *prior to* the student giving notice to the site. In some cases, it may be possible to preserve the student's placement at the site.

In cases where a student will indeed leave their placement early, the student must provide adequate written notice to the site and Site Supervisor, upholding their ethical responsibilities to clients as well as standards of professionalism. Students leaving a placement should actively involve their Faculty Supervisor, the Director of Clinical Training, and the Site Supervisor, if appropriate, in planning around leaving a placement. As part of leaving the site, students should complete clinical documentation and delete client recordings in Supervision Assist.

If the student decides to take a leave of absence from the CFT program or withdraw altogether, the student will give written notice and arrange for an exit interview with the CFT Program Director. The student will also give written notice to the Faculty Supervisor and the Site Supervisor.

# Concerns with Student Performance

The AUNE Faculty Supervisor regularly evaluates students through weekly case presentations and discussions, and through middle and end of semester evaluation. Students are formally evaluated upon completion of each of the five semesters of Internship. In the event that a student is rated S (satisfactory) or U (unsatisfactory) on any evaluation, the AUNE Faculty Supervisor will discuss the student's performance with the Clinician of Record/Site Supervisor (and off-site supervisor if one exists) and brief the CFT DCT. If it is mid-semester, a written remediation plan will be designed by the supervision team, in collaboration with the student, with goals that can reasonably be accomplished by the end of the semester. Per University policy, if an evaluation of U or S is given on the end-of-semester official Field Supervisor/Mentor Evaluation of Student form, the AUNE Faculty Supervisor is required by the office of the Registrar to make a note of explanation on the evaluation sheet. (The Registrar also requires a note of explanation for a rating of O (Outstanding) as well.)

If it is at the end of the semester, a "no credit" may be given if the student earns an "unsatisfactory" for overall performance in the internship. If a "no credit" is earned, the student must repeat the course. The Program Director and CFT DCT will continue to monitor the student's progress; if no signs of improvement are made in areas of concern, the CFT DCT will consult with the student, the Site Supervisor, the AUNE Faculty Supervisor, and CFT Core Faculty as one of the following may occur:

- The student is placed on Clinical Probation
- The student is required to repeat the Clinical Internship course
- The student is required to delay their internship experience
- The student is required to leave the program. This usually occurs only if the student is found to be engaging in "unprofessional" conduct that warrants such an action or if they student is found to be consistently unable to complete the requirements of the clinical training program

Student Personal Difficulties and Leave of Absence Protocol

In some instances, either a student themselves or the CFT DCT, may determine it is necessary for a student to stop seeing clients and take time off from their clinical responsibilities for personal, mental health, or medical reasons.

At the end of the Leave period, the CFT DCT will request that an AAMFT Approved Supervisor (referred to hereafter as the Assessor), who is also licensed to practice psychotherapy, provide a private evaluation to verify the student's readiness to return to clinical placement. This Assessor

cannot be either one of the AUNE core CFT faculty or an AUNE Site Supervisor. In this manner, the student's privacy is maintained and the program has confirmation from an outside party approved by the AAMFT in the training of CFTs that the student is ready to return to training. The AAMFT Approved Supervisor Assessor must provide the CFT DCT with a written opinion of the appropriateness of student's return to clinical work. A copy of this letter of evaluation will be sent directly to the CFT DCT and then be placed in the student's file.

The confidentiality of this outside assessment process will follow AAMFT ethical guidelines, as well FERPA regulations. Once the evaluation is complete, faculty/supervisors will not ask the student to share any personal therapy information nor any of the content or process of the private evaluation (due to unequal power in the relationships). However, it is common and often clinically relevant that the site and supervisors may wish to confer with the evaluator prior to or after the evaluation, and a release of information from the student will be required for this to occur. By this procedure, the program is able to verify and to document the appropriateness of the student to return to clinical duties without violating the student's privacy rights, and without creating inappropriate dual relationships.

Students should understand that the Director of Clinical Training and CFT MA Program Director, in consultation with program core faculty, have final authority to decide upon who may and who may not matriculate in the CFT program. In some circumstances, the program leadership and faculty may determine that it is in the best interest of the student and the profession of CFT that a remediation plan needs to include requirements in addition to a leave of absence, such as repeating coursework, repeating clinical experience work, psychological or educational testing, a medical evaluation, or personal psychotherapy.

# Difficulties with Faculty Supervisors

If a student experiences difficulties in the relationship with their Faculty Supervisor and has been unable to satisfactorily address the concern through direct communication with the Faculty Supervisor, the student should contact the Director of Clinical Training, their Faculty Advisor, or the CFT MA Program Director for assistance with resolving the concern. Because Faculty Supervisors are also, by design, students' instructors of record, clinical students may exercise the rights outlined in the <u>Antioch University Academic Appeal Policy</u>, including appeals of evaluations or appeals based on concerns about inconsistent or inequitable application of standards.

# University Policy for Student Grievances

Clinical students are involved in additional professional and academic relationships (e.g., with a placement site and Site Supervisor and a Faculty Supervisor). While clinical students are encouraged to address concerns within those professional relationships first, they also have the same rights as other students when it comes to grievances. Students should follow the grievance and appeals procedures as outlined in the <u>Antioch University Student Grievance Policy</u>.

For all questions about *internship requirements and CFT clinical training*, please contact:

Jinsook Song, Ph.D., LMFT CFT Director of Clinical Training Dept. of Applied Psychology, Antioch University New England 40 Avon Street; Keene, NH 03431 Phone: 703-407-2347 Email: jsong@antioch.edu

For all questions about CFT *coursework and program requirements*, please contact: Kristi Harrison, PhD, LMFT CFT Program Director Dept. of Applied Psychology, Antioch University New England 40 Avon Street Keene, NH 03431 Email: <u>kharrison1@antioch.edu</u>

## Appendix A: Permission to Audio or Video Record Therapy Session

Antioch University New England (AUNE) Department of Applied Psychology Marriage & Family Therapy (MA)

#### Permission To Audio Or Video Record Therapy Session

Student Therapists (ST) must work under the supervision of an Approved Supervisor who has access to recorded evidence of their work. Therapist and their supervisors use these recordings to improve the ST's clinical skills. These recordings encrypted are on a HIPAA-secured cloud and used strictly used for training purposes, they are not part of the client's clinical record and will be deleted upon completion of supervision. The client also has the right to view the recording if they wish, prior to the recording being deleted.

I verify that the student therapist named below has my permission to:

(1) Record our session(s) strictly for the use of providing clinical supervision to the student therapist;

- (2) Release the recording to the Antioch University Supervisor (AUS) named below; and
- (3) Delete all recordings upon completion of supervision as indicated below.

Antioch University Student Therapist:

Antioch University Team members (who will also view recording):

Antioch University Faculty	Supervisor:		
Family Member Signature:	(first name only)		Date:
Family Member Signature:	(first name only)		Date:
Family Member Signature:	(first name only)		Date:
ST Signature:		Date:	

# Appendix B: Clinical Evaluation Schedule

Evaluation Name:	Completed by: Student	Completed by: Faculty Supervisor	Completed by: Site Supervisor	When due:
Antioch Skills Evaluation Device - Student Self Evaluation	YES			End of every semester.
Evaluation of Faculty Supervisor/Mentor	YES			End of every semester.
Evaluation of Site Supervisor/Mentor	YES			End of every semester.
Field Experience Site Evaluation	YES			End of placement at EACH site.
Antioch Skills Evaluation Device - Faculty		YES		End of every semester.
Antioch University Dispositional Assessment		YES	YES	Midterm of INTERNSHIP ONE or as needed.
Antioch Skills Evaluation Device - Site Supervisor			YES	End of every semester.
Field Supervisor/Mentor Evaluation of Student			YES	End of every semester.

# Appendix C: Evaluative Descriptor Rubric for Internship Courses

COURSE REQUIRE- MENTS	UNSATIS- FACTORY	SATISFACTORY	GOOD	VERY GOOD	EXCELLENT	OUTSTANDING
INTEGRATION OF THEORY & PRACTICE	Student failed to successfully apply knowledge and skills from program course work to internship set ting. Remediation (specify), to be determined by advisor, is needed.	Student gave evidence of attempting to apply theoretical material to internship responsibilities, but did not do so in an effective way. Some remediation (specify) is needed.	Student gave evidence of successfully applying concepts from discipline to his/her internship.	Student successfully applied many key concepts from discipline and related fields in a particularly clear and effective manner.	Student consistently applied concepts from discipline and related fields in an original and effective manner.	The student application of theoretical material from his/her discipline and related fields was so advanced as to serve as a model of of effectiveness for future students.
PROFESSIONA L & INTERPERSON AL SKILLS	Student did not evidence or sufficiently improve professional skills in internship; responsiveness to feedback from site supervisors, faculty advisor and/or peers was minimal or lacking.	Student's growth in professional skills during internship was minimally acceptable for graduate program of professional preparation. Some difficulty evidenced in accepting and/or applying corrective feedback from site supervisors, faculty advisor and/or peers.	Student evidenced growth in professional skills and used feedback from site supervisor, faculty advisor and/or peers to improve performance during the course of the internship.	Student evidenced significant growth in professional skills and effectively employed feedback from supervisor, faculty advisor and/or peers to improve performance and broaden skill base over the course of the internship.	Significant growth in professional skills was consistently evidenced and openness to and use of feedback from site supervisors, faculty advisor and/or peers was exceptional.	The student's growth in professional skills was so great that internship site supervisor and/or faculty advisor experienced student as a full professional colleague by the end of term. Feedback from a variety of sources was consistently sought out and employed by student to improve skill and knowledge base.
QUALITY OF DOCUMENTATI ON	Paper(s) and other work products unacceptable with respect to content, organization, and/or writing style (specify). Some remediation (specify) needs to be arranged.	Paper(s) and other work products were minimally acceptable with respect to content, organization, and writing style; there were some problems in one or more of these areas (specify) but not so severe as to warrant handing the paper(s) back. Some remediation (specify) needs to be arranged.	Paper(s) and other work products adequate with respect to content, organization, and writing style.	Paper(s) and other work products particularly clear, well-organized, and/or well written.	Paper(s) and other work products both competent (or better) in execution, and original/creative in their approach to the topic; paper(s) could be used as a model for other students.	Paper(s) and other work products showed particularly clear and creative approach to the topic, an approach that's rarely seen, and were of publishable quality.
OVERALL INTERNSHIP PERFORMANC E	Student's work in internship was characterized by such major problems that no credit can be given. Learning goals were not met; closer supervision on next internship is needed.	Student's work in internship was minimally acceptable; there were problems in achievement of learning goals, but not so severe as to warrant an unsatisfactory.	Student's internship work was basically competent with no major problems. Learning goals were appropriate for degree program and readily achieved.	Student meet and/or exceeded learning goals for internship and solidly performed responsibilities for a rich learning experience.	Student exceeded internship learning goals and performed responsibilities in an exemplary fashion.	Student exceeded internship learning goals and performed responsibilities equal to a professional working in the field.

# Appendix D: Antioch Skills Evaluation Device

## ANTIOCH SKILLS EVALUATION DEVICE (ASkED)

Based on the Basic Skills Evaluation Device developed by Thorana S. Nelson, PhD

Professional Seminar and Clinical Field Approved Supervisors complete as an evaluation of the student's progress at the end of each semester.

Student:	Evaluator:

Practicum Semester: 1 2 3 4 5

Rating Scale: Ratings within each category can be used to delineate differences with levels. For each skill area, list a number between 0 and 50.

<u>Rating</u>	Description
0	No demonstrated competency
1 to 10	Unsatisfactory competency for beginning-level therapist
11 to 20	<b>Beginner</b> level competency (The therapist demonstrates or is developing competencies as expected of a beginning therapist)
21 to 30	Intermediate level competency (The therapist demonstrates competencies expected of students who have a moderate level of experience and have several courses completed in an MFT curriculum)
31 to 40	Advanced level competency (The therapist demonstrates competencies expected of graduates of a MA program pre-licensure)
41 to 50	<b>Exceptional</b> competency (The therapist demonstrates competencies that would be expected of a seasoned, licensed professional)
N/A	No opportunity to view competency

Conceptual Skills	Rating (0 to 50 or N/A)	Comments
General Knowledge Base		
Systems Perspective		
Familiarity with Therapy Models		
Integration of theory and practice		
Self as Therapist		

Theory (Preferred Model)	Rating	Comments
Knowledge of Theory		
Utilizes theory in Practice		
Recognizes Strengths/Weakness of Theory		

Executive Skills	Rating	Comments
Joining		
Assessment and Diagnosis		
Hypothesizing		
Interventions		
Communication Skills		
Personal Skills		
Session Management		

Perceptual Skills	Rating	Comments
Recognition Skills		
Hypothesizing		

Professional Skills	Rating	Comments
Supervision utilization		
Recognition of Ethical Issues		
Paperwork		
Professional Image		
Professional Conduct		

Evaluation Skills	Rating	Comments
Evaluation of Therapy		
Evaluation of Self		
Social Justice, Diversity, Power	Rating	Comments
Attention to issues of power in therapy		
Attention to issues of gender		
Attention to issues of race, ethnicity, sexual/gender minority status, and class.		

General Comments:

Supervisor Signature	 Date
Student Signature	Date

The Antioch Skills Evaluation Device (ASkED) is based on the Basic Skills Evaluation Device, which was developed using empirical data from the Basic Family Therapy Skills Project, conducted by Charles Figley and Thorana Nelson. The items and descriptions were developed from information gathered from nearly 500 experienced marriage and family therapy trainers and supervisors. Included are descriptions for each training dimension based on data from the Basic Family Therapy Skills Project. Please use these descriptions when evaluating your trainees.

#### The Basic Skills Evaluation Device <sup>©</sup> Conceptual Skills

#### General Knowledge Base

The trainee has a basic understanding of family systems theory. The trainee is able to articulate principles of human developmental, family developmental, and family life cycle issues pertaining to the case. The trainee communicates an understanding of human interaction and normal family processes. The trainee can articulate how gender, culture, and class have an impact on the client and on therapeutic issues (including interaction with one's own gender, culture/ethnicity, and class). The trainee is able to determine and work within the clients' world view. The trainee has an understanding of human sexuality. The trainee has knowledge of assessment strategies (e.g., interviewing skills, various assessment devices, DSM IV).

#### **Systems Perspective**

The trainee understands and can articulate basic systems concepts. When talking about client problems the trainee employs systemic concepts and perspectives, thus showing that s/he is thinking in systemic and contextual terms. Formed hypothesis are systemic. The trainee can articulate the difference between content issues and process issues. The trainee can recognize hierarchy problems.

## Familiarity with Therapy Models

The trainee has a basic knowledge of family therapy theories. The trainee's goals, hypotheses, session plans, interventions, and evaluation strategies for terminating therapy are all linked to a specific employed and articulated therapeutic model (which may be an integrated model). The trainee also recognizes his/her own perceptions, client resources, and links between problems and attempted solutions.

## Integration of Theory and Practice

The family therapy trainee is able to articulate theory as it is applied in practice, utilizing concepts appropriately, and describing interventions that fit with the theory and hypotheses. If using an integrated theory, the trainee is able to differentiate concepts and provide rationale for choices of hypotheses and/or interventions. The trainee is able to evaluate the appropriateness (positives and negatives) for a theory or integrated theory using concrete data from therapy cases.

## Self as Therapist

The trainee can articulate his/her own preferred model of therapy. The trainee is also aware of how his/her communication style influences therapy and is curious in learning about himself/herself. The trainee is aware of and able to manage his/her own anxiety in therapy. In talking about cases the trainee is able to reframe or positively connote issues from cases for her- or himself. The trainee has an understanding of how to use a sense of humor in therapy. The trainee recognizes her/his ability to be flexible and curious and to think critically and analytically, expressing authenticity and accepting feedback. The trainee is able to recognize how her/his own developmental or other issues interact in therapy.

#### Theory

The previous skill areas were generic; i.e., they apply across theoretical models of intervention. This section is for the trainee therapist and supervisor to use to evaluate the trainee's growing knowledge and expertise in a model or theory that is identified by the supervisor and trainee together. The trainee is able to identify assumptions and concepts of the theory, the primary techniques used in the theory, the role of the therapist, and evaluation strategies. The trainee is able to use the concepts and interventions in practice, identifying data

to the supervisor that illustrate the concepts. The trainee is able to recognize and identify the strengths and weaknesses of the theory as used in practice

#### **Executive Skills**

#### Joining

A trainee skilled in the technique of joining is able to engage each family member in a therapeutic alliance and relationship by establishing rapport through clear communication that conveys a sense of competency, authority, and trustworthiness while at the same time demonstrating empathy, warmth, caring, and respect. The trainee is capable of gathering information without making the client feel interrogated, laying down the ground rules for therapy, and setting up a workable treatment contract by exploring the client's expectations, point of view, and preparedness to make changes. These goals are accomplished in conjunction with setting appropriate boundaries and avoiding triangulation.

#### Assessment

The family therapy trainee demonstrates the ability to assess clients through use of genograms, family histories, suicide/depression interviews or inventories, and discussion of SES, employment, school, and developmental stages. The trainee is familiar and skilled in basic interviewing techniques and strategies. Assessment is formulated and appropriate to an articulated theory of change. The trainee is able to clarify the presenting problem, explore previous solutions to the problem, gather information regarding sequences and patterns in the family, and determine the strengths and resources that the family brings to therapy. Assessment strategies are sensitive to gender, race, and cultural issues.

#### Hypothesizing

The trainee exhibits the ability to formulate multiple hypotheses about a case based on articulated principles of a theory of change. S/he can develop treatment plans which include a rationale for intervention based on hypotheses; set clear, reachable goals in consultation with the family; focus the treatment toward a therapeutic goal; and modify the existing case plan when appropriate.

#### Interventions

The trainee demonstrates an understanding of intervention techniques by structuring interventions that defuse violent or chaotic situations, deflect scapegoating and blaming, and interrupt negative patterns and destructive communication cycles. The ability to intervene also includes appropriately challenging clients on their position, explicitly structuring or directing interactions among family members, and helping families establish boundaries. The trainee is able to elicit family/client strengths and utilize them in both session discussions and homework assignments.

Other interventions that illustrate skill include normalizing the problem when appropriate, helping clients develop their own solutions to problems, giving credit for positive changes, reframing, and the appropriately using self disclosure. The trainee uses theory-specific interventions appropriately and is able to articulate a rationale for these interventions.

## **Communication Skills**

Communication skills are demonstrated by active listening and reflecting; the use of open-ended questions; and short, specific, and clear oral forms of communication. The trainee's body language should convey a relaxed state and match the tone of the conversation. The trainee is also able to coach clients in learning communication skills rather than merely "lecturing" and instructing.

## **Personal Skills**

Personal skills that are important for a successful therapy trainee to possess include a desire to be a family therapist, intelligence, curiosity, common sense, self-direction, commitment, patience, empathy, sensitivity, flexibility, the ability to manage his/her anxiety, authenticity, expression of a caring attitude, and acceptance of

others. The trainee should also exhibit warmth, a sense of humor, a nondefensive attitude, congruency, the ability to take responsibility for his/her mistakes, the ability to apply his/her own personal mode of therapy, and possess no debilitating personal pathology. The trainee demonstrates emotional maturity and the ability to be self-reflexive. The trainee demonstrates an appropriate attitude of expertness toward clients, congruent with her/his theory of change.

#### **Session Management**

The trainee is able to manage the therapy process by effectively introducing clients to the therapy room, explaining equipment and setting, if necessary, and explaining the policies and procedures of the agency/clinic. The trainee is able to engage the family in therapeutic conversation, controlling the flow of communication as per her/his therapy plan. The trainee is able to manage intense interactions appropriately, demonstrating skill at both escalating and de-escalating intensity at appropriate times. The trainee is able to manage time, finishing sessions as scheduled and is able to schedule further appointments, consultations, and referrals smoothly and effectively. The trainee is able to collect fees in an appropriate manner.

#### **Perceptual Skills**

#### **Recognition Skills**

The trainee shows the ability to recognize hierarchies, boundaries, dynamics of triangling, family interaction, and family behavioral patterns. The trainee can also recognize gender, ethnic, cultural, and class issues in client dynamics and in therapy.

The trainee is able to recognize clients' coping skills and strengths and can understand dynamics and patterns in presenting problems. The trainee recognizes how patterns associated with presenting problems may be similar to other patterns of interaction in clients' lives.

The trainee recognizes and can articulate her or his impact as part of the client/therapy system.

#### Hypothesizing

The trainee can formulate a systemic hypothesis and can generate general hypotheses as well as theory (or model) specific hypotheses. The trainee can formulate long and short term treatment plans based on hypotheses. The trainee is able to distinguish process from content at an appropriate level and include process issues in hypotheses. The trainee reframes patterns and problems appropriately.

#### **Professional Skills**

#### Supervision

The trainee attends supervision meetings as scheduled and is prepared to discuss cases with colleagues, to formally present her or his own case, and to present audio or video material as requested. The trainee is respectful and positive about other trainees' cases and presentations, is helpful and not demeaning about a fellow trainee's skills. The trainee makes use of supervision by accepting and utilizing supervisory feedback.

#### **Recognition of Ethical Issues**

A marriage and family therapy trainee knows and observes the code of ethics of AAMFT and is familiar with the laws of the state regarding privileged communication, mandatory reporting, and duty to warn issues. The trainee follows the supervisor's policies regarding reporting and consulting with the supervisor and/or other authorities; the trainee appropriately uses supervision and consultation regarding ethical issues. The trainee avoids potentially exploitative relationships with clients and other trainees. The trainee deals appropriately with his or her own issues as they affect therapy and is willing to take responsibility for her or his own actions.

**Paperwork:** The trainee maintains case files appropriately and follows clinic procedures for paperwork in a timely manner.

## **Professional Image**

The trainee dresses appropriately according to the standards of the setting. The trainee is able to present an aura of confidence without arrogance and presents herself/himself to other professionals in an appropriate manner. The trainee is on time for sessions and supervision and treats staff with respect.

#### **Professional Conduct**

The trainee has the ability to initiate and maintain appropriate contact with other professionals along with maintaining a personal professional image. The trainee does not publicly denigrate or criticize colleagues. The trainee consults with professionals and others involved with cases appropriately, with appropriate signed releases, and in a professional manner, always keeping the client's welfare foremost. The trainee shows the ability to handle unexpected and crisis situations with poise and skill, using consultation when appropriate. The trainee is punctual with therapy sessions and other professional meetings. The trainee follows clinic policies in setting and collecting fees.

#### **Evaluation Skills**

#### Therapy

A trainee skilled in evaluating therapy is able to verbalize the thoroughness of assessment; the link between theory, assessment, and hypotheses/interventions; the effectiveness of interventions; and how well the objectives of the therapy have been met in terms of both the clients' goals and the therapist's perspective and analysis. The trainee can articulate aspects of the clients' feedback in relation to assessment and intervention. The trainee is able to articulate links between conceptual, perceptual, interventive, and outcome data.

#### Self

The trainee therapist is skilled in evaluating him or herself in terms of skills: conceptual, perceptual, executive, professional, and evaluative. The trainee is able to recognize signs in him or herself that contribute to the ongoing understanding and analysis of the case and is able to articulate personal issues that may be interacting in therapy. The trainee is not unduly defensive about feedback, but is able to integrate multiple perspectives and incorporate them into a plan for enhancing his or her development as a family therapist. The trainees work with the supervisor in an ongoing evaluation of therapy skills and strive to improve areas that require it and, at the same time, clearly articulate strengths in behavioral terms.

#### Social Justice, Power, and Diversity

(See Haddock, Zimmerman, and MacPhee's [2000] article on the *Power Equity Guide* for more detailed information)

## Attention to issues of power in therapy

The trainee therapist is skilled at attending to issues of power in the therapy, including working to eliminate or reduce power differentials between partners, attending to decision-making, communication and conflict resolution, negotiating goals and activities, sharing housework, sharing financial decision-making, having a consensual and mutual sexual relationship, and taking a proactive stance against family violence. The therapist also works to manage the power differential between therapist and clients.

#### Attention to issues of gender in therapy

The trainee therapist works to balance issues of power especially related to gender dynamics, and is aware of and attentive to such gender dynamics in work with individuals, couples, and families. The therapist takes a proactive stance in empowering female clients, and also works with male clients to be more attentive to relationship maintenance and power issues in relationships.

## Attention to issues of race, ethnicity, sexual/gender minority status, and class

The trainee therapist works to empower clients to honor and integrate all aspects of themselves not supported by the dominant culture. The trainee therapist is aware of power dynamics associated with issues of race, ethnicity, sexual and gender minority status, and social class. The therapist encourages clients from marginalized groups to explore and respond to the effects of oppression and assists clients in negotiation and managing problematic situations that arise from racism, classism, homophobia, and other oppressions. The therapist is aware of stereotypes, prejudices, and socially-based power differentials.

# **Appendix E: Capstone Presentation Assessment Rubric**

## RUBRIC FOR CAPSTONE PRESENTATION (Internship Seminar V)

Student: Evaluator:							
	U	S	G	v	E	ο	
Assignment Fundamentals							
Showed 3-6 relevant clips totaling to 10 minutes							
Written materials were clear and organized; provided a written outline and a clear summary of each video clip							
Presentation was well organized; student was articulate in oral presentation							
Responded well to questions and feedback during presentation							
Presentation was of appropriate length (not too long or too short), totaling to 45-50 minutes							
Assessment of Learning Outcomes							
SLO5: Students demonstrate basic systemic/relational therapeutic skills in clinical practice. As evidenced by: Therapy clips demonstrated therapeutic skills and were accompanied by explanation of how each clip ties with theory of therapy							
SLO1: Students demonstrate knowledge of CFT models and interventions. As evidenced by: Student's presentation reflects understanding and application of systemic/relational theories/models							

		•	
SLO2: Students demonstrate knowledge of broader content areas in CFT, including human development and family studies, families in larger systems, human sexuality and sex therapy, addictions, and intrafamilial violence. <i>As evidenced by:</i> <i>Presentation of case addressed</i> <i>relevant developmental and contextual</i> <i>topics in addition to or as part of</i> <i>applying chosen model</i>			
SLO11: Students pay attention to issues of diversity, equity, and inclusivity across all domains of CFT. As evidenced by: Presentation of case and of theory of therapy addressed contextual and systemic dynamics, particularly power and social justice			
SLO4: Students demonstrate competency in systemic assessment, diagnosis, and treatment planning. As evidenced by: Presentation reflected understanding and application of current models of assessment and diagnosis			
SLO3: Students apply systemic/relational model interventions in clinical practice. <i>As evidenced by:</i> <i>Articulated rationale for interventions</i> <i>related to tx goals and own theory of</i> <i>therapy</i>			
SLO11: Students pay attention to issues of diversity, equity, and inclusivity across all domains of CFT. <i>As evidenced by:</i> <i>Presentation addressed how delivered</i> <i>interventions in a way that was</i> <i>sensitive to clients' needs and identities</i>			

	I	_1				I
General Comments and Overall Evaluation	U	S	G	v	E	0
SLO7: Students demonstrate understanding and application of ethical codes, laws, and principles in CFT practice. As evidenced by: Clips reflected that the intern practiced within their scope of practice and Recognized issues that suggested need for referral or specialized evaluation or care in conjunction with their therapy						
SL10: Students demonstrate self-awareness of social structures, social locations, experiences, and biases that influence their practice as CFTs. <i>As evidence by:</i> <i>Presentation demonstrated that student</i> <i>monitors personal reactions to clients</i> <i>and tx process, identifying of issues</i> <i>and countertransference and how they</i> <i>dealt with this</i>						
Sense of self as a therapist:						
SLO9: Students apply research to clinical practice. <i>As evidenced by:</i> <i>Student reported how they evaluated</i> <i>treatment outcomes as therapy</i> <i>progressed</i>						